Aus der Medizinischen Klinik und Poliklinik IV der

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. Martin Reincke

A histology-based four protein array for postoperative outcome prediction in clear cell renal cell carcinoma

Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin

an der Medizinischen Fakultät der

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

vorgelegt von

Shangqing Song

aus China 2017

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät

der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Berichterstatter : Prof. Dr. med. Hans-Joachim Anders

Mitberichterstatter : Priv. Doz. Dr. Alexander Buchner

Mitberichterstatter : Prof. Dr. Robert-Dirk Zaak

Mitbetreuung durch den promovierten Mitarbeiter: Dr. med. Marc Weidenbusch

Dekan: Prof. Dr. med. dent. Reinhard Hickel

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung : 26.10.2017

Table of Contents

Tak	ble of Contents	i
Deo	claration	iii
Zus	sammenfassung	iv
Sur	mmary	vi
1.	Introduction	1
	1.1 Renal cell carcinoma	1
	1.1.1 Epidemiology	1
	1.1.2 Classification	2
	1.1.3 Pathogenesis	3
	1.1.4 Molecular pathways of clear cell renal cell carcinoma	4
	1.1.5 Therapy of clear cell renal cell carcinoma	9
	1.2 Interleukin-22	10
	1.2.1 Introduction of IL-22	10
	1.2.2 IL-22 receptor and IL-22 binding protein	12
	1.2.3 IL-22-IL-22RA1 axis in the kidney	14
	1.2.4 Signaling pathways of IL-22	15
	1.2.5 IL-22 in inflammatory diseases	16
	1.2.6 IL-22 in autoimmune diseases	17
	1.2.7 IL-22 in cancer	
	1.3 Hypotheses	20
2.	Materials and Methods	22
	2.1 Materials	22
	2.2 The cancer genome atlas data analysis	24
	2.3 Patients and samples	29
	2.4 Immunohistochemistry	
	2.5 Staining Evaluation	
	2.5.1 IL-22 and IL-22BP staining evaluation	33
	2.5.2 IL-22RA1 staining evaluation	34
	2.5.3 Ki-67 and Caspase-3 staining evaluation	

	2.6 Statistical Analysis35
3.	Results
	3.1 Correlations between IL-22 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and
	disease-free survival from the cancer genome atlas
	3.2 Correlations between IL-22RA1 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and
	disease-free survival from the cancer genome atlas
	3.3 Clinical data of patient cohort of Munich41
	3.4 Immunohistochemical detection of IL-22, IL-22RA1 IL-22BP, Ki-67 and
	caspase-3 47
	3.5 Correlations between IL-22 expression and ccRCC patients' clinicopathologic
	characteristics51
	3.6 Correlations between IL-22RA1 expression and ccRCC patients'
	clinicopathologic characteristics55
	3.7 Correlations between IL-22 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and
	disease-free survival 58
	3.8 Correlations between IL-22RA1 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and
	disease-free survival61
	3.9 Correlations between Ki-67 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and
	disease-free survival63
	3.10 Correlations between Caspase-3 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and
	disease-free survival65
	3.11 Multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression models for ccRCC
	patients' overall survival and disease-free survival
4.	Discussion
5.	References
6.	List of Abbreviations
7.	List of figures
8.	List of tables
9.	Acknowledgments

Declaration

I hereby declare that all of the present work embodied in this thesis was carried out by me from 11/2014 until 08/2016 under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Hans Joachim Anders, Nephrologisches Zentrum, Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik IV, Innenstadt Klinikum der Universität München, Prof. Dr. med. Christian G. Stief, Urologische Klinik und Poliklinik, Campus Grosshadern der Universität München, and Dr.med. Marc Weidenbusch, Nephrologisches Zentrum, Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik IV, Innenstadt Klinikum der Universität München. This work has not been submitted in part or full to any other university or institute for any degree or diploma.

Date:

Signature:

Place: Munich, Germany

(Shangqing Song)

Zusammenfassung

Nierenzellkarzinome (NZKs) zählen weltweit zu den häufigen Krebsformen und sind bei Männern der neunthäufigste, bei Frauen der vierzehnhäufigste bösartige Tumor. Die klarzellige Histologie (kzNZK) ist der häufigste Subtyp und macht circa 70-75% aller Fälle aus. Die Ätiopathogenese des kzNZK ist unvollständig verstanden, gleichwohl verschiedene Risikofaktoren bekannt sind. Die Identifikation neuer klinischer und pathologischer Marker zur Diagnosestellung, Prognoseabschätzung und Therapiestratifizierung ist ein entscheidendes Ziel, um mittelfristig die inbesondere bei höheren Tumorstadien schlechten klinischen Outcomes des kzNZK zu verbessern. Interleukin-22 (IL-22) ist Mitglied der IL-10 Zytokinfamilie und wird von verschiedenen Lymphozytensubsets produziert. IL-22 spielt eine wichtige Rolle für die Homöostase mehrerer Organe und verhindert Gewebeschäden durch Invasion von Pathogenen und die vergesellschaftete Entzündungsreaktion. Allerdings spielt IL-22 auch eine Rolle in der Pathogenese verschiedener Karzinome. Die biologischen Effekte von IL-22 werden hierbei durch Bindung an den heterodimeren Transmembran-Rezeptorkomplex aus IL22RA1 und IL10R2 vermittelt. Die Rolle von IL-22 und seinem Rezeptor bei klarzelligem kzNZK ist bisher unbekannt.

In dieser Arbeit wurden daher zunächst die Effekte der IL-22- und IL22RA1-RNA-Expression auf das Gesamt (OS)- und das Tumor-freie (DFS) Überleben von kzNZK-Patienten der The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA)– Kohorte untersucht. Anschließend wurden zusätzlich Gewebeproben von 60 Patienten mit nicht metastasiertem kzNZK, die an der LMU behandelt wurden, immunhistochemisch auf die Expression von IL-22, IL-22RA1, IL-22BP, Ki-67 und Caspase-3 untersucht. Diese Ergebnisse wurden, zusammen mit klinisch-pathologischen Daten, ebenfalls mit dem OS und DFS der Patienten verglichen.

Die Überexpression von IL-22 und IL22RA1 war in der TCGA-Kohorte mit einem signifikant kürzeren OS und DFS assoziiert. Immunhistochemisch konnten in der LMU-Kohorte jeweils in einem Subset der Patienten IL-22, IL-22RA1, Ki-67, and caspase-3 positive Zellen nachgewiesen werden, während die IL-22BP Färbung in allen Fällen negativ blieb. Statistische Analyzen zeigten, dass die Protein-Expression von IL-22 mit dem Fuhrman-Grad, dem initialen T-Stadium, späterem Rezidiv sowie dem Gesamtüberleben der kzNZK-Patienten korrelierten. Die Protein-Expression von IL22RA1 hingegen korrelierte mit Fuhrman-Grad, späterem Rezidiv sowie dem Gesamtüberleben. Weiterhin zeigte sich in der Kaplan-Meier Analyze ein signifikant kürzeres OS und DFS für Patienten mit Überexpression von IL-22, IL22RA1 und Ki-67, während die Überexpression von Caspase-3 nur mit einem kürzeren DFS assoziiert war. Die IL22RA1 Expression konnte darüber hinaus in einer multivariaten Cox-Regression als unabhängiger Prediktor für OS und DFS identifiziert werden. Zusammenfassend zeigt diese Arbeit eine Rolle der IL-22/IL22RA1-Achse für die Prognoseabschätzung beim kzNZK und bestätigt zusätzlich den Wert der Ki-67 Färbung in Hinblick auf diese Fragestellung.

Summary

Renal cell carcinoma is the 9th and the 14th most common cancer in men and women worldwide, respectively. Clear cell histology is the most common subtype of renal cell carcinoma, which accounts for about 70-75% of all cases. The pathogenesis of renal cell carcinoma is not well clarified and various factors are reported to be associated with kidney cancer. Identifying novel clinical and pathological features associated with the diagnosis, prognosis and targeted therapies of ccRCC patients is an essential task. Interleukin-22 (IL-22) belongs to the IL-10 family of cytokine and is produced by several subsets of lymphocytes. IL-22 plays an important role in sustaining the integrity of several organs and it prevents injury due to invading pathogens and the subsequent inflammatory response. Moreover, IL-22 has been reported to be associated with cancers in several organs. IL-22 mediates its biological effect by binding to the heterodimeric transmembrane complex of IL-22RA1 and IL-10R2.

In the present study, the expression pattern of IL-22 and IL-22RA1 and their association with the survival of ccRCC patients from The Cancer Genome Atlas were analyzed. Then 60 tumor samples from non-metastatic ccRCC patients were selected for IL-22, IL-22RA1, IL-22BP, Ki-67, Caspase-3 immunohistochemical staining. Afterwards, staining evaluation was performed, and the patients' clinicopathological

characteristics were analyzed and the correlations between immunohistochemical variables and patients' outcome were assessed. From the TCGA analysis results, patients without alterations in IL-22 or IL-22RA1 had a significantly good overall survival and disease-free survival compared to patients with alteration in IL-22 or IL-22RA1. Immunohistochemical staining detected IL-22, IL-22RA1, Ki-67, and caspase-3 positive tumor cells, but no IL-22BP positive cell was detected. Statistical analysis showed that IL-22 expression was correlated with Fuhrman grade, primary T stage, relapse and vital status of ccRCC patients. And IL-22RA1 expression was associated with Fuhrman grade, relapse, and vital status of ccRCC patients. Moreover, Kaplan-Meier analysis revealed that ccRCC patients with high expression of IL-22 had a poor overall survival and disease-free survival compared to patients with low expression of IL-22. This was true also for IL-22RA1 and Ki-67. However, ccRCC patients with high expression of caspase-3 only showed a significantly poor disease-free survival, but not overall survival. In addition, multivariable Cox proportional hazards regression model showed that tumor stage, presence of necrosis in tumor, and IL-22RA1 probably are independent predictors for overall survival of ccRCC patients, and Fuhrman grade, tumor stage, presence of venous thrombus and IL-22RA1 are independent predictors of disease-free survival of ccRCC patients. Several conclusions can be drawn: the IL-22-IL-22RA1 axis is correlated with several clinicopathological characteristics such as Fuhrman grade, primary T stage, relapse and vital status of ccRCC patients; ccRCC patients with lower expression level of IL-22, IL-22RA1, Ki-67 tend to have a longer survival time; IL-22RA1 but not IL-22,

is an independent predictive factor for prognosis of ccRCC patients.

1. Introduction

1.1 Renal cell carcinoma

1.1.1 Epidemiology

Currently, renal cell carcinoma is the 9th and the 14th most common cancer in men and women worldwide respectively. In the year 2012, the estimated amount of deaths from renal cancer was 143,000, which ranked the 16th most common cause of death from metastatic disease worldwide. (Znaor, Lortet-Tieulent et al. 2015) Among all human malignant diseases, 2-3% are renal cell carcinomas (RCC), which account for approximately 90% of all primary malignancies of the kidney. Despite the advent of improved diagnostic methods, particularly imaging techniques, around 20-30% of all patients have metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis. (Rini, Campbell et al. 2009) (Ljungberg, Campbell et al. 2011) The incidence of renal cell carcinoma varies in different areas of the world, and is higher in developed countries compared to developing countries. Men seem more likely to suffer from renal cancer than women, with the male to female ratio being 1.5:1. (Levi, Ferlay et al. 2008) Incidences of renal cancer increase with age and reach a plateau in the 7th decade of life (Chow and Devesa 2008).

1.1.2 Classification

Renal cell carcinoma is not a single disease, but rather a combination of related, yet different malignancies of various histological subtypes that arise from the renal tubule cell (Larkin, Goh et al. 2012), and different histologic subtypes are believed to originate from different parts of the nephron (Shuch, Amin et al. 2015). Clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) accounts for about 70-75% of kidney cancer, and therefore is the most common subtype of this cancer. Papillary RCC is the second most common subtype of kidney cancer, accounting for around 10-16% of all RCC cases. Papillary RCC can further be divided into 2 different subtypes, papillary type 1 and papillary type 2 (Srigley and Delahunt 2009). The third most common subtype of renal cell carcinoma is chromophobe RCC, and accounts for 5% of all RCC cases (Shuch, Amin et al. 2015). Collecting duct RCC is considered to arise from the kidney medulla and only accounts for <0.5% cases of RCC (Fleming and Lewi 1986). Medullary RCC is an extremely rare subtype with a poor survival, many patients die within months after diagnosis. It is recognised as a tumor arising from calyceal epithelium or papillae and possibly be initiated by chronic medullary hypoxia caused by hemoglobinopathy. (Davis, Mostofi et al. 1995) (Swartz, Karth et al. 2002) In addition, there are several other RCC forms associated with specific genes, like "microphthalmia transcription factor family"-translocation RCC as well as hereditary renal cell carcinoma syndromes. (Shuch, Amin et al. 2015)

1.1.3 Pathogenesis

The pathophysiology linking risk factors with RCC is still not completely understood. Etiologic factors involve many aspects, among which specific lifestyle is likely to play an important role in the development of RCC. Cigarette smoking, both active or passive, is an established risk factor for kidney cancer, and the risk compared to non-smokers increases about 50% in male and 20% in female smokers (Hunt, van der Hel et al. 2005). Excessive body weight is also a potential risk factor, with RCC being a cancer type robustly associated with increased Body-mass index (BMI), probably because the adipose tissue can provide an abundant energy source for malignant lesions of the kidney to escape the immune system, to grow and to form metastases (Gati, Kouidhi et al. 2014). Rohrmann et al. studied the relationship between consumption of meat and fish with the risk of RCC and they showed an association between red and processed meat consumption and the risk of kidney cancer in women (Rohrmann, Linseisen et al. 2015). In addition, a pooled analysis of several cohort studies showed a negative correlation between kidney cancer and diets abundant in fruits and vegetables (Lee, Mannisto et al. 2009). A cohort study from Sweden indicated that the risk for RCC development increased with elevation of blood pressure and decreased with reducing elevated blood pressure (Chow, Gridley et al. 2000), suggesting hypertension is another risk factor for RCC. In spite of the risk factors mentioned above, still many RCC patients do not have any identifiable risk factor. In addition, patients with end stage renal disease (ESRD) requiring dialysis are

at risk for developing kidney cancer (Maisonneuve, Agodoa et al. 1999).

Approximately 2-3% of renal cell carcinomas are familial (Lipworth, Tarone et al. 2006). The risk to suffer RCC is nearly two-fold increased for a first grade relative of a kidney cancer patient (Ljungberg, Campbell et al. 2011), suggesting one ore more genetic risk factors. A two-stage genome-wide association study of RCC by a research group led by International Agency for Research on Cancer and the US National Cancer Institute showed that two genetic loci (2p21 [EPAS1] and 11q13.3 [no characterized genes]) were associated with RCC susceptibility (Purdue, Johansson et al. 2011). It provides evidence that genetics can affect susceptibility to renal cell carcinoma.

1.1.4 Molecular pathways of clear cell renal cell carcinoma

The prognosis associated with RCC differs among subtypes, but there is also considerable outcome variability within the same subtype. The clinical outcomes of ccRCC are influenced by several prognostic factors including tumor stage, Fuhrman grade, as well as the presence of necrosis (Frank, Blute et al. 2002, Delahunt, McKenney et al. 2013).

So far, several biomarkers have been considered as potential prognostic markers. However, none of them have been adopted in clinical care. The molecular

mechanisms contributing to the development of RCC have not been understood completely. CSNK2A1 (Casein Kinase 2 Alpha 1), SPP1 (Secreted Phosphoprotein 1) as well as DEFB1 (Defensin Beta 1) are three new identified genes, there is significant association between high expression and a poor outcome in ccRCC patients (Rabjerg, Bjerregaard et al. 2016). ccRCC originates from proximal convoluted tubules in nephrons and is associated with a mutation and/or inactivation of the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) gene and activation of the Raf-MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase)-ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinases) pathway (Wong, Ojo et al. 2015). The current therapies include agents that target the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway or mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (Singer, Gupta et al. 2013). The VHL-hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) pathway also plays an important role in ccRCC (Latif, Tory et al. 1993). In up to 41% of ccRCC tumors there are mutations in the Polybromo 1(PBRM1) gene, which is located on 3p21, making PBRM1 one of the most commonly mutated genes in ccRCC, ranking second after VHL (Varela, Tarpey et al. 2011).. Several studies including The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) project (found BAP1 (BRCA1 associated protein 1) alterations in 8-10% of ccRCC (Guo, Gui et al. 2012, Cancer Genome Atlas Research 2013). Mutations in BAP1 and PBRM1 are associated with pathology characters such as tumor grade and sarcomatoid variants, biology as well as prognosis (Su, Singer et al. 2015). Mutations in PTEN (Phosphatase and tensin homolog) and mTOR were present in 4% and 6% of ccRCC, respectively(Cancer Genome Atlas Research 2013). Novel targeted immunotherapy such as PD-1 (programmed death 1) and PD-L1 (programmed death

ligand 1) targeted agents have been developed. Previous studies revealed that PD-L1 expression is correlated with a poor outcome in RCC mostly because of its immunosuppressive function (Thompson, Gillett et al. 2004, Thompson, Kuntz et al. 2006, Choueiri, Fishman et al. 2016). PD-1 from T cell binding to PD-L1 from renal cancer cell blocks the immune response such as inhibiting cytokine release and antitumor T cells activity (Harshman, Drake et al. 2014). Figure 1 summarizes the

pathways in renal cell carcinoma.



Figure 1 Pathways in renal cell carcinoma. An endothelial cell, a renal cancer cell and a T cell are show. Accumulated HIF translocates into the nucleus of renal cancer cell after the mutation of VHL, following by activation of HIF target genes including VEGF, VEGFR, FGF (fibroblast growth factor), FGFR (FGF receptor), PDFG (platelet derived growth factor) and PDFGR (PDFG receptor). PD-1 binding to PD-L1 blocks the immune response between T cell and cancer cell. Cell signaling factor activates PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway, leading to anabolic effects in renal cancer cell. (Choueiri and Motzer 2017)

Ki-67 is a well-established marker of tumor cell proliferation. The association

between Ki-67 staining indices and outcome of cancer is a continuous function, the higher the score, the greater the risk of biochemical or clinical failure (Pollack, DeSilvio et al. 2004). One of the largest studies indicated that patients with higher expression of Ki-67 were more likely to die because of RCC and that Ki-67 had a significant relationship with adverse pathological features of RCC (Tollefson, Thompson et al. 2007).

Caspase-3 (also known as CPP32, YAMA, and apopain) is an apoptosis-related gene located at 4q35.1 (Yan, He et al. 2013). Caspase-3 acts as an effector in the caspase apoptotic cascade. It can be activated by the mitochondrial or the death receptor apoptotic pathway (Soung, Lee et al. 2004, Chen, Zhao et al. 2008, Kuo, Yu et al. 2011, Onouchi, Suzuki et al. 2013). The normal apoptotic process can be inhibited by the activation of caspase3, and deregulations of apoptotic pathways can increase cell survival in a lot of cancers, and may further support anchorage-independent survival during the process of metastasis (Frisch and Francis 1994, Glinsky and Glinsky 1996, Takaoka, Adachi et al. 1997). However, several cancers showed significantly lower expression of the caspase3 protein compared to the expression in normal tissues (Hosgood, Baris et al. 2008, Kinslow, El-Zein et al. 2008). One study indicated that gene polymorphisms and haplotypes of caspase3 increased the risk for gastric cancer (Li, Liu et al. 2014). Another study provided evidence that caspase3 expression in metastatic lymph nodes can be a potential independent prognostic factor of shorter overall survival in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients

with lymph nodes metastasis (Wang, Luo et al. 2014). However, the correlation between caspase3 and outcome of RCC has not been established from the literature.

Advanced ccRCC is still an incurable disease with a poor prognosis. Without doubt there is an increasing need for the identification of biomarkers that may predict ccRCC recurrence and survival.

1.1.5 Therapy of clear cell renal cell carcinoma

Radical nephrectomy and partial nephrectomy are the only curative options for nonmetastatic clear cell renal cell carcinoma, and surgery is also an important option to relieve symptoms from metastatic ccRCC (mccRCC). Surgical resection should be used in combination with systemic therapy for the patients with mccRCC.(Biswas, Kelly et al. 2009) ccRCC is resistant to radiotherapy or chemotherapy, and while high-dose interleukin-2 or interferon-alfa may induce durable responses in a small percentage of mccRCC patients, the therapy is toxic and only suitable for a small patient population (Keizman, Maimon et al. 2015). VEGF-TKIs (Sorafenib, Sunitinib) and mTOR inhibitors (Everolimus, Temsirolimus) are used as first line treatment options for patients with mccRCC. Second line or later options include axitinib, which is an inhibitor of VEGFRs and cabozantinib, an inhibitor of VEGFRs, MET, and AXL (Choueiri and Motzer 2017). Recently, monoclonal antibodies (Nivolumab) targeting and blocking the inhibitory T-cell receptor, PD-1 and its ligand PD-L1 emerged as promising therapy for mccRCC (Shin, Jeon et al. 2015).

1.2 Interleukin-22

1.2.1 Introduction of IL-22

Interleukin-22 (IL-22) is a member of the IL-10 cytokine family along with IL-19, IL-20, IL-24, IL-26 and IL-28 (α and β). It is produced by several subsets of lymphocytes including CD4+ T helper 17 (Th17) cells (also known as IL-17-producing cells, which are considered as a key cellular source of IL-22) (Ouyang, Rutz et al. 2011) and Th22 cells, CD8+ cytotoxic T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi)-like cells (Lim and Savan 2014). Of the CD4+ T cells, Th17 and Th22 cells are the major sources of IL-22. Th1 cells can also produce IL-22 (Gurney 2004). In humans, IL-22 is mostly produced by Th1, Th17 and Th22 cells. However, murine IL-22 is mainly produced by Th17 cells (Zheng, Danilenko et al. 2007, Duhen, Geiger et al. 2009, Eyerich, Eyerich et al. 2009, Volpe, Touzot et al. 2009). What should be paid attention to is, that the principal cellular sources of IL-22 production may involve different immune cell populations (Lim and Savan 2014).

The human IL-22 gene is located on chromosome 12p15, while the mouse and rat genes are located on chromosomes 10 and 7, respectively (Weidenbusch, Rodler et

al. 2015). The human IL-22 protein consists of 146 amino acids and has 80.8% identity with murine IL-22, and IL-22 also has an α -helical secondary structure just as other family members of IL-10 (Wolk and Sabat 2006). IL-22 normally plays a role in sustaining the integrity as well as the barrier function of these organs, preventing injury from either invading pathogens or an inflammatory response (Witte, Witte et al. 2010, Sonnenberg, Fouser et al. 2011, Zenewicz and Flavell 2011). In this process, IL-22 will create pro-inflammatory epithelial resist mechanisms which are crucial for host protection, however, if this process is not well regulated, inflammation will be amplified by IL-22 alone or together with other cytokines, therefore inducing deviant epithelial proliferation as well as differentiation (Rutz, Eidenschenk et al. 2013). There are three different ways in which IL-22 functions in host defense and protection: first, during the invasion of pathogens, IL-22 may help to maintain and rebuild the epithelial barrier after epithelial injury; second, IL-22 may induce host defense antimicrobial protein expression together with other cytokines like IL-17 or tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α); third, IL-22 may enhance the expression of inflammatory mediators such as IL-6, IL-1 β , granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-binding protein (LBP) and serum amyloid A (SAA) (Wolk, Witte et al. 2006, Boniface, Guignouard et al. 2007, Aujla, Chan et al. 2008, Liang, Nickerson-Nutter et al. 2010).

Additionally, IL-22 also contributes to tissue regeneration and the promotion of wound healing. IL-22 may promote proliferation and survival of the epithelial cell in

many organs such as intestine, liver, thymus and lung (Ki, Park et al. 2010, Dudakov, Hanash et al. 2012, Kong, Feng et al. 2012). IL-22 may also promote liver cell regeneration after hepatic injury. There are anti-apoptotic genes in hepatocytes which can protect hepatocytes from cell death caused by inflammation. Interestingly, expression of these genes can be induced by IL-22 (Radaeva, Sun et al. 2004). Meanwhile, IL-22 has a protective role in some other inflammatory diseases and the development of fibrosis, such as allergic airway inflammation, autoimmune myocarditis, uveitis and pulmonary fibrosis (Chang, Hanawa et al. 2006, Simonian, Wehrmann et al. 2010, Ke, Sun et al. 2011, Nakagome, Imamura et al. 2011)

1.2.2 IL-22 receptor and IL-22 binding protein

The IL-22 receptor (IL-22R) is a member of class II cytokine receptor family. IL-22 plays its role via binding to the heterodimeric transmembrane complex iof IL-22RA1 and IL-10R2 (IL-10RB) (Xin, Namaka et al. 2015). The human gene encoding IL-22RA1 is located at chromosome 1p36.11, whereas the gene encoding IL-10R2 is located on chromosome 21q22.11 (Xie, Aggarwal et al. 2000). IL-22RA1 was found to have restricted expression on cells of epithelial origin in various kinds of non-immune tissues such as the pancreas, skin and colonic mucosa, followed by kidney, lung and liver. (Tachiiri, Imamura et al. 2003, Wolk, Kunz et al. 2004) On the contrary, IL-10R2 is believed to be expressed ubiquitously in immune cells such as T cells, B cells and NK cells, as well as epithelial cells (Wolk, Kunz et al. 2004).

In addition to the membrane-bound IL-22R, there is a soluble receptor, IL-22RA2, also known as IL-22 binding protein (IL-22BP) (Weiss, Wolk et al. 2004, Sabat 2010, Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014). The gene encoding human IL-22BP is located at chromosome 6q23.3 and is closeto genes encoding the IFN (Interferon)-yR and IL-20R (Gruenberg, Schoenemeyer et al. 2001, Kotenko, Izotova et al. 2001, Weiss, Wolk et al. 2004). IL-22BP binds to IL-22 with a higher affinity and specificity compared to IL-22RA1 (20-to1000-fold higher) (Wolk, Witte et al. 2007, Jones, Logsdon et al. 2008), acts as a decoy receptor and inhibits the effects of the interaction between IL-22 with its trans-membrane receptor complex (Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014). Interestingly, IL-22BP specifically binds to IL-22, but not other cytokines of the IL-10 family (Dumoutier, Lejeune et al. 2001, Kotenko, Izotova et al. 2001, Xu, Presnell et al. 2001, Wei, Ho et al. 2003). Therefore IL-22BP has been used as a competitive antagonist of IL-22 signaling in vitro (Lim and Savan 2014). IL-22BP is expressed at a highest level in placenta and mammary gland, at an intermediate level in stomach, thymus, spleen, lung, skin and lymph nodes, and expressed modestly in peripheral blood leucocytes, heart, brain and prostate (Dumoutier, Lejeune et al. 2001, Kotenko, Izotova et al. 2001, Xu, Presnell et al. 2001, Wei, Ho et al. 2003, Weiss, Wolk et al. 2004). (Figure 2)



Figure 2 Principles of IL-22 signaling. IL-22 activates cellular responses by combining to receptor IL-22RA1 and IL-10Rβ2. IL-22 binds to IL-22RA1 with high affinity but no affinity for IL-10Rβ2 . After binding to IL-22RA1, the conformation of IL-22 changes, leads to a strong affinity towards IL-10Rβ2. This combination phosphorylates JAK1 (Janus kinase), TYK2 (Tyrosine Kinase 2) and STAT3 (Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3), therefore impact downstream signaling. IL-22BP inhibits effects of IL-22 via a higher affinity than IL-22RA1 (Weidenbusch, Rodler et al. 2015).

1.2.3 IL-22-IL-22RA1 axis in the kidney

Initial studies on the expression of IL-22R identified low expression in the kidney (Aggarwal, Xie et al. 2001, Kotenko, Izotova et al. 2001, Tachiiri, Imamura et al. 2003, Wolk, Kunz et al. 2004), whereIL-22R is mainly expressed on tubular epithelial cells (Kulkarni, Hartter et al. 2014). So far, little is known about the function of IL-22 in the kidney. According to a previous study, IL-22 will be induced in the kidney after

14

stimulation by DAMPs (Kulkarni, Hartter et al. 2014) and it also can be seen in a polymicrobial peritonitis model (Weber, Schlautkotter et al. 2007). IL-22 was believed to function against the regeneration of the kidney because of the fact that blockade of IL-22 by IL-22BP-Fc can relieve renal damage and increase bacterial

clearance from the kidney in polymicrobial peritonitis (Dumoutier, Van Roost et al. 2000, Weber, Schlautkotter et al. 2007). Moreover, one study found a correlation between polymorphisms in the IL-22R and nephropathy development (Suh, Cho et al. 2013). One study focused on IL-22BP demonstrated that urinary IL-22BP levels are correlated with active renal disease and IL-22BP is highly expressed in the renal tissue of patients with active renal disease, (Yang, Gao et al. 2014).

1.2.4 Signaling pathways of IL-22

The assembly of the IL-22-IL-22R1-IL-10R2 complex activates Janus tyrosine kinases (Jak1 and Tyk2) associated with the receptor complex, which results in the phosphorylation of these receptors as well as signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) proteins (Dudakov, Hanash et al. 2015). Phosphorylation of STAT3 is believed to be the primary mediator of IL-22 signaling. However, STAT1 and STAT5 phosphorylation have also been found to play a role (Lejeune, Dumoutier et al. 2002, Wolk, Kunz et al. 2004). In addition, IL-22 activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway including extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 (Lejeune, Dumoutier et al. 2002,

Brand, Dambacher et al. 2007, Lim and Savan 2014)as well as phosphatidylinositide 3-Kinase-Akt-mammalian target of rapamycin (PI3K-Akt-mTOR) pathway (Mitra, Raychaudhuri et al. 2012, Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014). . STAT3 phosphorylation is an important downstream pathway in terms of regulating the effect of IL-22 in epithelial cells, and research on chemical-induced colitis indicated IL-22 -dependent phosphorylation of STAT3 in epithelial cells; meanwhile, conditional deletion of STAT3 *in vivo* in intestinal epithelial cells led to a similar phenotype seen in IL-22 deficient mice after chemical-induced colitis. This demonstrates an essential role for STAT3 in IL-22 mediated signaling (Pickert, Neufert et al. 2009).

1.2.5 IL-22 in inflammatory diseases

IL-22 is expressed in a wide range of organs such as skin, liver, breast, thymus, kidney, lung, pancreas, gastrointestinal tract, heart, eye, synovial tissues and adipose tissue, and its receptor is expressed on the stromal and epithelial cells of those organs (Witte, Witte et al. 2010, Sonnenberg, Fouser et al. 2011, Cordero-Coma, Calleja et al. 2013, Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014, Dudakov, Hanash et al. 2015). As mentioned above, IL-22 is produced at sites of inflammation, therefore it may be involved in regulating a physiological response to repair tissue damage, but it may also lead to pathological inflammation (Dudakov, Hanash et al. 2015). There are several experimental models showing that IL-22 may play a protective role by regenerating epithelial tissues including pancreatitis, thymic injury, colitis and

hepatitis (Witte, Witte et al. 2010, Sonnenberg, Fouser et al. 2011, Dudakov, Hanash et al. 2012). However, IL-22 has been reported to induce proinflammatory molecule expression, such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-11, G-CSF, GM-CSF and LPS binding protein (Andoh, Zhang et al. 2005, Sonnenberg, Fouser et al. 2011, Mortha, Chudnovskiy et al. 2014). Tissue damage disrupts tissue homeostasis and induces responses that intend to eliminate the injurious trigger and try to reinstall tissue homeostasis such as inflammation, atrophy and fibrosis (Hagemann, Haegele et al. 2013, Suarez-Alvarez, Liapis et al. 2016). Notch signalling is known to mediate development as well as homeostasis in various organs including kidney, heart, lung and intestine, and plays a main role in immune homeostasis as well (Radtke, Fasnacht et al. 2010, Barak, Surendran et al. 2012, Xu, Moghal et al. 2012, Radtke, MacDonald et al. 2013, Tsai, VanDussen et al. 2014, Luxan, D'Amato et al. 2016). Several studies found a correlation between Notch and IL-22, that Notch signalling induces IL-22 production by aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands and in vivo the production of IL-22 is mediated by Notch signalling (Alam, Maekawa et al. 2010, Lee, Cella et al. 2012). In conclusion, IL-22 is involved in tissue homeostasis and plays a role in inflammation, atrophy and fibrosis via Notch signalling.

1.2.6 IL-22 in autoimmune diseases

Studies have shown that some inflammatory cytokines are involved in the pathogenesis of autoimmune disease (Pan, Li et al. 2013). IL-17 was believed to play

a pathogenic role in autoimmunity (Pan, Ye et al. 2008). Several research groups indicated that increased IL-17 levels are correlated with many chronic autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, psoriasis and Sjögren's syndrome (Garrett-Sinha, John et al. 2008, van den Berg and Miossec 2009, Mieliauskaite, Dumalakiene et al. 2012, Pollinger 2012). Similar to IL-17, IL-22 is highly expressed by Th17 cells as well, studies have revealed that IL-22 is expressed differentially in several autoimmune diseases (Cheng, Guo et al. 2009, Pan, Zhao et al. 2009, da Rocha, Duarte et al. 2012). Mouse models showed that IL-22 knockout or inhibition might ameliorate some autoimmune diseases (Ke, Sun et al. 2011, Semerano, Assier et al. 2012).

1.2.7 IL-22 in cancer

On the one hand, IL-22 plays a protective role in inflammation, on the other hand, as a double-edged sword, IL-22 can execute an inflammatory function in autoimmune diseases, and moreover, promote tumor development by inducing inflammation, proliferation, cell migration, angiogenesis and oxidative signaling via STAT3 signaling (Lim and Savan 2014). Aberrance of IL-22 signaling was shown to be important in various cancers. IL-22 was shown to be involved in cancer signaling in several sites, such as lung, pancreas, skin, colon, breast, stomach, thyroid, skin and cervix (Dudakov, Hanash et al. 2015). Studies on colon cancer and hepatocellular cancer indicated that excessive IL-22 in the microenvironment of colon cancer, ulcerative colitis and hepatocellular carcinoma leads to tumor growth, apoptosis inhibition as well as metastasis promotion depend on STAT3 activation (Jiang, Tan et al. 2011, Jiang, Wang et al. 2013). In vitro, IL-22 stimulation enhances the migration and invasion of gastric cancer cells by regulating IL-22RA1/AKT/MMP-9 (matrix metalloproteinase 9) signaling axis (Ji, Yang et al. 2014). IL-22R is expressed on glioblastoma cells established in vivo and in vitro, and IL-22 induced glioblastoma cell survival in STAT3, ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt pathways. In gastric cancer, IL-22 is important in establishing the tumor microenvironment and increased intratumoral IL-22 correlates with tumor progression and predicts poor survival in patients (Zhuang, Peng et al. 2012). Another study demonstrated that IL-22 levels are positively associated with MAP3K8 (mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 8) and Pin1 expression in breast cancer. IL-22-induced MAP3K8 signaling pathway may promote cancer-associated inflammation in the tumor microenvironment (Kim, Kim et al. 2014). In addition, IL-22 is frequently expressed in lung cancer, and increased IL-22RA1 expression and signaling in chemotherapy refractory cell lines are indicative of a pro-tumorigenic function of IL-22 and may contribute to a more aggressive phenotype. Overexpression of IL-22RA1 is an independent indicator of poor overall survival and supports the contribution of the IL-22-IL-22RA1 pathway in lung cancer progression (Kobold, Volk et al. 2013, Guillon, Gueugnon et al. 2016). Moreover, overall survival of patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma was significantly shortershorter

in patients with high expression of IL-22 and IL-22R than in those with low expression (Wen, Liao et al. 2014). One study on IL-22 and the RCC cell line A498 showed that IL-22 dose-dependently suppressed the growth of RCC A498 cells by regulation of STAT1 pathway (Zhang, Shang et al. 2011). Despite the known correlation between IL-22 and different types of cancers from previous studies, to our knowledge there is no published research on the relationship between the expression of IL-22/IL-22R1 and survival in ccRCC patients.

1.3 Hypotheses

Based on the above, we therefore hypothesized that:

- Expression of IL-22-IL-22RA1 axis proteins is correlated with ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival. To this end, clinical and genomic data of ccRCC provided by TCGA were analyzed using the cBioPortal resource.
- 2. Expression of IL-22-IL-22RA1 axis proteins is correlated with clinicopathological characteristics of ccRCC patients. To verify this hypothesis, we quantified the expression of IL-22 and IL-22RA1 in human ccRCC tissues and correlated the expression with clinicopathological characteristics (age, sex, Fuhrman grade, primary T stage, present of necrosis, venous thrombus and relapse) of ccRCC patients.
- ccRCC patients with lower expression level of IL-22, IL-22RA1, IL-22BP, Ki-67,
 Caspase-3 have a longer overall survival time and disease-free survival time. We

assessed the expression of IL-22, IL-22RA1, and IL-22BP, Ki-67 and Caspase-3 in human ccRCC tissues and correlated the expression with the outcomes of ccRCC patients in our patients' cohort.

4. IL-22RA1 and IL-22 are independent predictive factors for prognosis of ccRCC patients. To this purpose, a multivariate cox proportional hazards model was used to analyze the impact of prognostic factors on overall survival and disease-free survival.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

100% ethanol	CLN, Germany
30% hydrogen peroxide	Merck KGaA, Germany
37° C water bath	HAAKE, Germany
70% ethanol	CLN, Germany
96% ethanol	CLN, Germany
ABC reagent	Vector Laboratories, CA, USA
antigen unmasking solution	Vector Laboratories, CA, USA
autoclave	Melag, Germany
avidin blocking solution	Vector Laboratories, CA, USA
biotin blocking solution	Vector Laboratories, CA, USA
biotinylated anti-goat antibody	BA-9500, Vector Laboratories, CA, USA
biotinylated anti-mouse IgG1 antibody	406604, BioLegend, CA, USA
biotinylated anti-rabbit antibody	BA1000, Vector Laboratories, CA, USA
cleaved caspase-3 antibody	9661S, Cell Signaling, MA, USA
cover slips	VWR, Pennsylvania, USA
DAB	Sigma-Aldrich, Mo. USA
distilled water	made in our lab

drying oven	Memmert, Germany
goat serum	Thermo Scientific, USA
GraphPad Prism	GraphPad Prism 6.0
IBM SPSS	IBM SPSS 22
IL-22 antibody	sc-14436, Santa Cruz Biotech, Texas, USA
IL-22BP antibody	NBP1-85455, Novus Biologicals, CO, USA
IL-22RA1 antibody	ab5984, Abcam, UK
Image J	National Institutes of Health
Ki-67 antibody	BD 550609, BD Biosciences, CA, USA
methanol	Sigma-Aldrich, Mo. USA
methyl green	Sigma-Aldrich, Mo. USA
microscope	Leica Microsystems, Germany
microscope slides	Thermo Scientific, USA
microtome	Thermo Scientific Microm HM355S, USA
Microwave	Severin, Germany
mounting medium	Vector Laboratories, CA, USA
NiCl	Sigma-Aldrich, Mo. USA
PBS	PAN-Biotech, Germany
proteinase K	Qiagen, Germany
Tris-Hcl	made in our lab
Windows system	Microsoft Windows 7
xylene	Fisher Scientific, UK

2.2 The cancer genome atlas data analysis

The cancer genome atlas (TCGA) is a cooperation program by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) and National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI), it has synthetic multi-dimensional maps of the pivotal genomic changes as well as molecular and clinical data 33 far in types of cancer SO (http://cancergenome.nih.gov/). The principal objectives of TCGA are vigorous quality control as well as to generate, , merge, analyze, and clarify molecular characteristics at the DNA, RNA, protein and epigenetic levels for hundreds of cancers from various tumor types and subtypes (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, Weinstein et al. 2013). Researchers can collect, select, and analyze human tumor tissues of the genomic database established by TCGA and this national network serves as a model for projects in the future. Tumors profiled by TCGA range from solid to hematological, from moderate to highly malignant. DNA, RNA and protein are extracted and analyzed for each tumor case. TCGA collects and analyzes high-quality tumor tissues and makes these following data usable on the TCGA Data Portal:

- 1) Clinical information about participants in the program
- 2) Metadata about the samples
- 3) Histopathology slides images from sample portions
- Molecular information derived from the samples (e.g. mRNA/miRNA expression, protein expression, copy number, etc.) (NCI Wiki

https://wiki.nci.nih.gov/display/TCGA/About+TCGA+Data)

Pan-cancer is a coordinated initiative, its aim being the assemlyof coherent, consistent data sets from TCGA and separate disease projects, then analyzing and interpreting these data to build a well-coordinated joint data set sweeping into multiple tumor types (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, Weinstein et al. 2013). The Pan-Cancer analysis program was established as a collaboration among members of the TCGA network, however, many other interested institutions were involved soon after starting.

The findings from TCGA have provided a large amount of advanced knowledge on the cancers and therefore have given rise to the development of clinical diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers even redefinitions of preceding classifications of cancers (Colaprico, Silva et al. 2016). However, it is not easy for cancer researchers to translate the genomic data from this kind of large-scale cancer genomics projects into new biologic insights and clinical applications.

cBioPortal (http://www.cbioportal.org/) is an open-access resource for Cancer Genomics which provides visualization, analysis and download options of multidimensional cancer genomics data sets and makes the raw data generated by large-scale cancer genomics projects such as TCGA and ICGC (the International Cancer Genome Consortium) more easily and directly available (Cerami, Gao et al. 2012). cBioPortal enables researchers to explore genetic alterations and gene expression interactively across different tissues and to link these underlying data to clinical outcomes (Gao, Aksoy et al. 2013).

In a single-cancer query, researchers can select cancer need to study, select genomic profiles and enter gene name. As shown in Figure 3, kidney renal clear cell carcinoma (TCGA, provisional) which includes 538 samples was selected for the present study.

Query	Download Data	
Select Ca	incer Study:	
Search		-
1 study sel	ected. Deselect all	
★ [Kidney (9)	-
+	🗝 🔳 Renal Cell Carcinoma (9)	
	🕶 🔳 Renal Clear Cell Carcinoma (5)	
	Multiregion Sequencing of Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma (IRC, Nat Genet 2014) 78 samples	
	- 🗌 Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma (U Tokyo, Nat Genet 2013) 106 samples	
	— 🗌 Kidney Renal Clear Cell Carcinoma (BGI, Nat Genet 2012) 98 samples	
	— 🗹 Kidney Renal Clear Cell Carcinoma (TCGA, Provisional) 538 samples	
	🖳 🗌 Kidney Renal Clear Cell Carcinoma (TCGA, Nature 2013) 499 samples	
	🕶 🔲 Renal Non-Clear Cell Carcinoma (4)	

Figure 3 Select genomic profiles.

The next step was to select genomic profiles. We selected mRNA Expression z-Scores (RNA Seq V2 RSEM) which meant compared to the expression distribution of each gene tumors that were diploid for this gene, and then entered a z-score threshold. A z-score is also known as a standard score, is a measure of how many standard
deviations below or above the population mean a raw score is. z = (expression in tumor sample – mean expression in reference sample) / standard deviation of expression in reference sample. (Figure 4)

Select Genomic Profiles:	
V Mutations 👔	
Putative copy-number alterations from GISTIC	
mRNA Expression data. Select one of the profiles below:	
mRNA Expression z-Scores (RNA Seq V2 RSEM)	
mRNA Expression z-Scores (microarray)	
Enter a z-score threshold ±: 1.5	

Figure 4 Select genomic profiles.

After that, "All Complete Tumors" was selected from the list. Then gene symbol was typed in the blank before submitting, as shown in Figure 5.

Select Patient/Case Set:	All Complete Tumors (413)	
	To build your own case set, tr	y out our enhanced Study View.	
inter Gene Set: Adva	nced: Onco Query Langu	age (OQL)	
User-defined List)
Select From Recurrently M	utated Genes (MutSig)	Select Genes from Recurrent CNAs (Gistic	c)
(L22		<u></u>	
 All gene symbols are val 	id.		

Figure 5 Select patient or case set, enter gene symbol.

Comprehensive results were come out after submitting. As shown in Figure 6, 35 (8%)

of 413 cases exist IL-22 mRNA upregulation. Meanwhile, several different types of

data were also shown here, such as mutual exclusivity, plots, mutations and so on.

	Mutual Exclusivity	Plots	Mutations	Co-Expression	Enrichments	Survival	Network	IGV	Download	Bookmark					
se Se	t: All Complete Tu	umorsAl	tumor san	nples that have	mRNA, CNA a	and seque	ncing data	(413 sam	(413)	patients / 413	samples)			
30 00	All complete it	antoraA	r cumor sur	inpics chat have	mixina, cha c	ind seque	icing data	(413 300	рюздятэ	putients / 41	o Sampico)			
					Olivian I Tax			Carlos Calas	1.Course	Descelared	Θ			or @	
ered in	35 (8%) of 413 cas	es/patie	nts		Clinical Trac	cks 👻 So	t v Muta	tion Color •	View -	Download +	ବ	-•	100	% @	۲. [D
ered in	35 (8%) of 413 cas	es/patie	nts		Clinical Trac	cks 👻 So	t v Muta	tion Color •	• View •	Download 🗸	ବ୍	•	100	% €	۲. ۲

Figure 6 Comprehensive results were shown after submitting.

2.3 Patients and samples

60 cases tumor samples from non-metastatic ccRCC patients from Department of Urology, Hospital of the Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich were included in the study. All patients were treated with radical or partial nephrectomy between December 1991 and July 2004. Diagnosis of ccRCC was confirmed by hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining by the Department of Pathology of the Hospital of the Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich. Written, informed consent was obtained from all patients before surgery, and the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital of the Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich. Complete follow-up history was available for at least 5 years. Clinical and pathological parameters were entered into a database, included age, sex, Fuhrman grade, primary T stage, present of necrosis, venous thrombus and relapse. Cases in this study were re-assigned according to the 2010 AJCC TNM classification (Edge and Compton 2010)(Table 1). All the stages were classified into two groups, high stage (T3 and T4) and low stage (T1 and T2). All the tumor samples were embedded in paraffin after surgery, together with adjacent non-tumor tissue from the same patient. $\mu 4\mu$ m-thick sections from tumor blocks were cut by microtome and allowed to air-dry overnight for the immunohistochemistry staining. Patients' clinical data are shown in Table 3.

Primary tumors	(T)		
ТХ	Primary tumor cannot be assessed		
то	No evidence of primary tumor		
T1	Tumor ≤7 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the kidney		
T1a	Tumor ≤4 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the kidney		
T1b	Tumor >4 cm but \leq 7 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the kidney		
Т2	Tumor >7 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the kidney		
T2a	Tumor >7 cm but ≤10 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the kidney		
T2b	Tumor >10 cm, limited to the kidney		
Т3	Tumor extends into major veins or perinephric tissues but not into the		
	ipsilateral adrenal gland and not beyond the Gerota fascia		
ТЗа	Tumor grossly extends into the renal vein or its segmental		
	(muscle-containing) branches, or tumor invades perirenal and/or renal sinus		
	fat but not beyond the Gerota fascia		
T3b	Tumor grossly extends into the vena cava below the diaphragm		
T3c	Tumor grossly extends into the vena cava above the diaphragm or invades		
	the wall of the vena cava		
T4	Tumor invades beyond the Gerota fascia (including contiguous extension		
	into the ipsilateral adrenal gland)		

Table 1 2010 AJCC TNM classification (Primary tumors stage)

2.4 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry staining for IL-22, IL-22 receptor (IL-22RA1), IL-22 binding protein (IL-22BP), ki-67 and caspase-3 was performed as follows. Appropriate positive and negative controls were utilized for each run of immunohistochemistry

staining.

First, tissue slides were deparaffinizedn. For this, sections were incubated in two washes of xylene for 5 minutes each at room temperature. Then slides were incubated in three washes of 100% ethanol, two washes of 96% ethanol and one wash of 70% ethanol for 2 minutes each at room temperature, followed by washing sections twice in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 7 minutes each at room temperature.

The second step was endogenous peroxidase blocking. Sections were incubated in 3% hydrogen peroxide (20ml 30% hydrogen peroxide in 180ml methanol) for 20 minutes in dark at room temperature, followed by washing sections in PBS for 7 minutes at room temperature.

The third step was antigen unmasking.Slides were boiled (Microwave) in 10 mM sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0): 300ml distilled water + 3ml antigen unmasking solution and then cooled on bench top for 30 minutes. Then slides were autoclaved with sodium citrate buffer for 20 minutes followed by 40 minutes cooling down. Sections were washed in PBS for 7 minutes at room temperature. For IL-22 and IL-22RA1 staining, proteinase K solution (1:400) was used for antigen unmasking instead of sodium citrate buffer. Added µ200µl proteinase K solution (1:400) to each section, incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature, and then washed in PBS for

7 minutes at room temperature.

The next step was antigen detection. Each section was first blocked with several drops of avidin blocking solution for 15 minutes at room temperature, and then washed briefly in PBS. Sections were then blocked with several drops of biotin blocking solution for 15 minutes at room temperature, followed by washing sections in PBS for 7 minutes. Before antibody incubation, tissue sections were incubated with 10% normal goat serum for 10 minutes at room temperature to block non-specific binding from the goat second antibody.

Primary and second antibody incubation was performed at this step. Antibody dilutionsare shown in table 2. μ 200 μ l of the diluted primary antibody solution were added to each section and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature or overnight at 4°C and sections were washed twice in PBS for 7 minutes after incubation. 200 μ l biotinylated diluted second antibody solution were then added to each section and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature followed by washing twice in PBS for 7 minutes.

The next step was ABC reagent incubation. ABC solution preparation: 15µl reagent A and 15µl reagent B to 1 ml PBS. 200µl ABC solution was added to each section and then incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature and then sections were washed twice in PBS for 5 minutes followed by washing in Tris-Hcl buffer (pH 7.6-7.8) twice for 5 minutes.

The last step was staining. Staining solution (37°C) preparation: 200 ml Tris-Hcl + 4ml DAB (3,3'-diaminobenzidine) solution + 1ml NiCl (Nickel chloride) + 500 μ l 3% H₂O₂ (hydrogen peroxide). At first sections were incubated in staining solution for 2 to 10 minutes at 37° C. The slides were then counterstained with methyl green for 2 minutes at room temperature. Then slides were incubated in three washes of 100% ethanol, two washes of 96% ethanol and one wash of 70% ethanol for 10 seconds each at room temperature, followed by incubating sections twice in xylene for 10 seconds each at room temperature, and then mounted coverslips with mounting medium. Images were captured with a LEICA AMIL instrument.

Table 2 Primary and s			
Primary antibody	dilution	incubate time	second antibody
IL-22	1:100	1 hour	anti-goat antibody
IL-22RA1	1:200	1 hour	anti-rabbit antibody
IL-22BP	1:100	overnight	anti-rabbit antibody
Ki-67	1:50	1 hour	anti-mouse antibody
Caspase-3	1:50	overnight	anti-rabbit antibody

Table 3 Dut - I .

2.5 Staining Evaluation

2.5.1 IL-22 and IL-22BP staining evaluation

5 representative areas (X 100) from the entire slides were selected under the microscope. Positive signals were counted in all the 5 areas. The observer was blinded to the outcome or characteristics of the patient when evaluating the staining.

2.5.2 IL-22RA1 staining evaluation

5 representative areas (X 100) from the tumor tissue as well as one area from adjacent non-tumor tissue were selected under microscope. Pictures of these areas were analyzed via Image J software as following: Opened the picture of adjacent non-tumor tissue in Image J, then selected 'Image' from the main menu of Image J Color \rightarrow Split Channels, the picture was split into three different channels—blue, green and red. Kept the green one, and selected 'Image' from the main menu of Image J \rightarrow Adjust \rightarrow Threshold, then adjusted the parameters until all the background was removed and positive signals were shown in the picture. Recorded the parameters and clicked 'Apply', then selected 'Analyze' from the main menu \rightarrow Measure, then the staining value was calculated automatically. Same processing for pictures of tumor tissues was performed under the same parameters, in this way, the staining values could be compared between adjacent non-tumor tissue and tumor tissues from the same case, as well as normalised the tumor staining values by adjacent non-tumor staining values. The observer was blinded to the outcome or characteristics of the patient when evaluating the staining.

2.5.3 Ki-67 and Caspase-3 staining evaluation

A semiquantitative scoring method was used to evaluate ki-67 and caspase-3 staining. Both the staining intensity and the proportion of cells stained were assessed (Zhu, Cai et al. 2012). The total immunostaining scores were calculated as the intensity score (0= no staining, 1=weak staining, 2=moderate staining, 3=strong staining) \times the proportion of positively stained cells (0 to 100%) The observer was blinded to the outcome or characteristics of the patient when evaluating the staining.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

Correlations between immunohistochemical variables and clinicopathological characteristics were analyzed by Fisher exact and chi-square tests. According to the NCI definition, overall survival (OS) refers to the length of time from either the date of diagnosis or the start of treatment for a disease, such as cancer, that patients diagnosed with the disease are still alive. Disease-free survival (DFS) was considered as the length of time after primary treatment for cancer ends that the patient survives without any signs or symptoms of that cancer. Depending on this, death and relapse were selected as two different end points during follow-up period to perform the Kaplan-Meier analyses, with log-rank tests assessing the differences between the groups. Multivariate Cox proportional hazards models were used to

analyze the impact of prognostic factors on overall survival and disease-free survival. All statistical tests were performed assuming significance at a level of p<0.05. Analyzes were performed using GraphPad Prism, version 5.04 and IBM SPSS Statistics, version22.

3. Results

3.1 Correlations between IL-22 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival from the cancer genome atlas

Initially the correlation between levels of IL-22 and ccRCC patients' survival from TCGA was analyzed. There were 35 cases (8%) with upregulation of IL-22 and other 378 cases (92%) without upregulation of IL-22, and the cases deceased were 18 and 127, respectively. Median survival was 62.81 and 90.8 months, respectively. Log-rank test showed p-value=0.0159, patients with IL-22 overexpression shorterlinked to shorter overall survival compared to cases without upregulation of IL-22. (Figure 7A) Similarly, in the disease-free survival Kaplan-Meier estimate, there were 28 cases (8%) with high level of IL-22 and 307 patients (92%) with low level of IL-22, the cases relapsed during the follow-up period were 14 and 94, respectively. Median disease-free survival was 32.52 and 123.72 months. Log-rank test showed p-value=0.0047, patients with upregulation of IL-22 had a shorter disease free survival compared to patients without this alteration in IL-22. (Figure 7B)



Figure 7 IL-22 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates. A Patients without IL-22 upregulation have a better overall survival. B Patients without IL-22 upregulation have a better disease-free survival.

3.2 Correlations between IL-22RA1 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival from the cancer genome atlas

Regarding IL-22RA1, the number of patients with and without IL-22RA1 was 33 (8%) and 380 (92%). 20 of the 33 cases died during the follow-up period, and 125 of the 380 cases died during this period. Median survival time was 45.27 months and 90.8 months, respectively. P-value=0.0013, which meant the overall survival was better in patients with low level of IL-22RA1 than patients with high level of IL-22RA1 (Figure 8A). Disease-free survival analysis is shown in Figure 8B. There were 23 cases (7%) with upregulation of IL-22RA1 and 312 cases (93%) without alteration, during the follow-up period, there were 12 cases and 96 cases relapsed, respectively. Meanwhile, the median disease-free time was 56.14 months and 123.72 months respectively. P-Value from the log-rank test was 0.0404, manifested a better disease-free survival in cases with low level of IL-22RA1, compared to patients with IL-22RA1 upregulation.



Figure 8 IL-22RA1 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates. A Patients without IL-22RA1 upregulation have a better overall survival. B Patients without IL-22RA1 upregulation have a better disease-free survival.

3.3 Clinical data of patient cohort of Munich

As listed in Table 4, among the 60 patients with ccRCC, 30 were female (50%), and 30 were male (50%), age ranged from 31 years to 77 years, the mean age was 59 years, among them, 27 (45%) patients aged less than or equal to 60 years, 33 (55%) patients aged more than 60 years. Fuhrman grades were estimated by the department of pathology using the Fuhrman grading system, among these 60 patients, 46 cases were in low Fuhrman grade (G1 or G2) (76.7%), and 14 cases were in high Fuhrman grade (G3 or G4) (23.3%). Pathological stages were re-assigned according to the 2010 American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) TNM classification. The primary T stages were low (T1 or T2) in 46 patients (76.7%) and high (T3 or T4) in 14 patients (23.3%). The existence of tumor necrosis was judged by conventional hematoxylin and eosin staining by pathologists. Tumor necrosis was presented in 16 cases (26.7%) and absent in 44 cases (73.3%). The presence of venous thrombus was determined by imaging examination such as computerised tomography (CT) scan, Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and ultrasonic examination, as well as venous thrombus observation during or after surgery. Venous thrombus was presented in 8 patients (13.3%) and absent in 52 patients (86.7%).

During the follow-up period, 18 patients (30%) had disease recurrence and a total of 23 patients (38.3%) died due to all causes. The presence of relapse was assessed by

imaging examination and pathological examination during the follow-up period.

Relapses included local kidney tumor recurrence in the original location, a regional recurrence that occurred in the lymph nodes as well as metastasis in other parts of the body or organs. In these 60 cases, 18 patients had disease recurrence, including local recurrence in 5 patients, lymph nodes recurrence in 2 cases, bone metastasis in 7 cases, brain metastasis in 3 patients, liver metastasis in 2 patients, lung metastasis in 8 cased and skin metastasis in one patient. As more than one recurrence site was found in some patients, the number of recurrence sites is shown in Table 3. The follow-up period ranged from 13 months to 182 months, and the median follow-up time was 78 months for the cohort.

NO.	Age	Sex	Fuhrman	Primary	Necrosis	Venous	Relapse	Vital	Follow-up time
			grade	T stage		thrombus		status	(month)
1	50	0	1	T1A	0	0	0	0	106
2	37	0	1	T1B	3	0	0	0	175
3	63	1	1	T1B	1	0	0	0	143
4	66	1	1	T1B	0	0	0	0	48
5	74	1	1	T1B	0	0	0	0	75
6	65	1	1	T2B	0	0	0	0	178
7	49	1	1	T3A	1	0	0	0	179
8	68	0	2	T1A	0	0	0	0	22
9	73	0	2	T1A	0	0	0	0	54
10	34	1	2	T1A	0	0	0	0	129
11	47	1	2	T1A	1	0	0	0	182
12	55	1	2	T1A	0	0	0	0	105
13	58	1	2	T1A	0	0	0	0	132
14	62	1	2	T1A	0	0	0	0	145
15	65	1	2	T1A	0	0	0	0	172
16	66	1	2	T1A	1	0	0	0	182
17	31	0	2	T2A	1	0	0	0	124
18	34	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	13

Table 3 Patients' clinical data.

					Results				
19	49	0	2	T2A	3	0	0	0	142
20	49	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	26
21	51	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	100
22	55	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	106
23	64	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	86
24	65	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	148
25	68	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	98
26	62	1	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	26
27	75	1	2	T2A	0	0	0	0	122
28	52	0	2	T2B	0	0	0	0	78
29	67	0	2	T2B	0	0	0	0	70
30	72	0	2	T2B	0	0	0	0	89
31	36	1	2	T2B	0	0	0	0	77
32	73	1	2	T2B	0	0	0	0	42
33	71	0	1	T1A	0	0	0	1	80
34	41	1	1	T1A	0	0	0	1	143
35	77	1	1	T1B	0	0	0	1	54
36	69	1	1	T2A	0	0	0	1	88
37	45	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	1	52
38	66	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	1	42
39	75	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	1	75
40	76	0	2	T2A	0	0	0	1	51

					Results				
41	57	1	3	T3B	3	1	0	1	74
42	60	1	3	T3B	3	2	0	1	36
43	53	1	2	T3B	0	2	1	1	54
44	58	1	2	T2A	0	0	2	0	111
45	63	1	3	T1A	0	0	2	0	96
46	50	0	3	T2A	0	0	2	0	58
47	65	0	2	T3B	1	1	2	0	13
48	76	1	2	ТЗВ	0	1	2	0	24
49	38	0	2	T3A	2	0	2	1	39
50	57	0	3	T1B	0	0	2	1	60
51	62	0	3	T2A	0	0	2	1	31
52	58	1	3	T2A	1	0	2	1	151
53	62	0	3	T3B	0	1	2	1	52
54	69	0	3	T3B	1	1	2	1	38
55	61	1	3	T3B	3	1	2	1	124
56	66	1	2	T3A	0	0	3	1	37
57	72	1	3	T1B	0	0	3	1	36
58	59	1	3	T3A	0	0	3	1	57
59	44	0	4	T4	1	0	3	1	26
60	62	0	3	T4	3	0	3	1	80

Sex: 0=female; 1=male. Vital status: 0=alive; 1=dead

Table 4 Patients' cohort.

	NO (60)	%
Age <=	60 27	45
>	60 33	55
Sex		
Ma	ale 30	50
Fema	ale 30	50
Fuhrman grade		
Low(G1/G	62) 46	76.7
High(G3/G	64) 14	23.3
Primary T stage		
Low(pT1/p1	-2) 46	76.7
High(pT3/p1	T4) 14	23.3
Necrosis		
Abse	ent 44	73.3
Prese	ent 16	26.7
Venous thrombus		
Abse	ent 52	86.7
Prese	ent 8	13.3
Relapse		
Abse	ent 42	70
Prese	ent 18	30
Vital status		
Al	ve 37	61.7
De	ad 23	38.3

3.4 Immunohistochemical detection of IL-22, IL-22RA1 IL-22BP, Ki-67 and caspase-3

IL-22 staining was present predominantly in the cytoplasm. The staining pattern is shown in Figure 9. There is only a little expression in adjacent normal kidney tissue. High expression of IL-22 was identified as equal or more than 20 positive signals in all 5 areas randomly selected under microscope, low expression of IL-22 was identified as less than 20 positive signals or negative result, the number of cases expressing high and low IL-22 was 28 (46.7%) and 32 (53.3%), respectively.





Figure 9 IL-22 immunohistochemical staining. A Adjacent normal kidney tissue; B Low expression of IL-22; C High expression of IL-22. (X 100)

Similarly, IL-22RA1 staining was present in the cytoplasm of tumor cells, as shown in Figure 10. There is a moderate expression of IL-22RA1 in adjacent normal kidney tissue. High expression of IL-22RA1 was defined as equal or more than 20 score measured by Image J software mentioned before; low expression of IL-22RA1 was defined as less than 20 score. The number of cases with high expression and low expression of IL-22RA1 was 34 (56.7%) and 26 (43.3%), respectively.

IL-22BP staining was only found in adjacent normal kidney tissue with moderate cytoplasmic staining and luminal membrane positivity in tubules. Positive staining for IL-22BP in tumor tissue slides was not detected, as shown in Figure 11.





Figure 11 IL-22BP immunohistochemical staining. A Adjacent normal kidney tissue; B ccRCC tumor tissue. (X 100)

Ki-67 staining is shown in Figure 12. Very few positive cells can be seen in adjacent normal kidney tissue. Depending on the results, High expression of Ki-67 was identified as equal or more than 30 score (mean value), low expression of Ki-67 was identified as less than 30 score or negative result.



Caspase-3 staining is shown in Figure 13. Several cells were stained in adjacent normal kidney tissue. Depending on the staining evaluation results, High level of caspase-3 was also identified as equal or more than 30 score (mean value), low level of caspase-3 was identified as less than 30 score or negative result.



3.5 Correlations between IL-22 expression and ccRCC patients' clinicopathologic characteristics

As listed in Table 5, in the group which patients aged equal or less than 60 years old, there were 15 cases and 12 cases with high IL-22 expression and low IL-22 expression, respectively. While in the group aged more than 60 years old, the cases expressing high level and low level of IL-22 were 13 and 20, respectively. There was no significant difference in IL-22 expression between two groups. (p=0.2988)

In terms of gender, in male patients, there were 14 cases and 16 cases expressing

high and low levels of IL-22. Meanwhile there were also 14 cases and 16 cases with high and low expression of IL-22, respectively in female patients. This meant there was no significance of IL-22 expression between genders. (p=1)

In the aspect of Fuhrman grade, the numbers of cases with high and low expression of IL-22 were 17 and 29 in low Fuhrman grade (G1 and G2) group. However, these two values were 11 and 3 in patients with high Fuhrman grade (G3 and G4). According to Fisher's exact test analysis, there was significance of IL-22 expression between low Fuhrman grade group and high Fuhrman grade group. (p=0.0126)

Similarly, there was also a significant difference in IL-22 expression in terms of primary T stage between low stage (pT1 and pT2) and high stage (pT3 and pT4). Same as Fuhrman grade, there were 17 and 29 cases expressing IL-22 in high levels and low levels in low primary T stage group, and 11 cases expressing high IL-22 in high T stage group, which only 3 patients had IL-22 low expression.

As to necrosis, in patients whose tumor without necrosis, there were 18 patients expressing high levels of IL-22 and the other 26 cases expressing low levels of IL-22, while in patients with necrosis, these values were 10 and 6. There was no significance of IL-22 expression between these two groups. (p=0.1569)

When it comes to venous thrombus, there were 23 cases without venous thrombus

expressing high levels of IL-22, and this number was 29 in low levels of IL-22. However, in venous thrombus present patients, 5 of them expressing high levels of IL-22 and the other 3 expressing low levels of IL-22. Also here there was no significance between two groups. (p=0.4544)

Next, the correlation between expression of IL-22 and relapse of disease was analyzed. As shown in the table 5, among patients who did not suffer relapse, there were 15 and 27 cases expressing high levels of IL-22 and low levels of IL-22, respectively. While in patients that relapsed, these two numbers turned to 12 and 6. Interestingly, this difference was statistically significant between two groups (p=0.0463).

A similar result was shown in vital status, there were 37 patients still alive at the end of our follow-up period, among them 12 patients showed a high level IL-22 expression, the other 25 patients showed low level of IL-22 expression. In patients who were dead during the follow-up period, the numbers of cases expressing high levels and low levels of IL-22 were 16 and 7. Similar to result of relapse, there was also statistical significance between two different groups. (p=0.0077)

	IL-22 High	IL-22 Low	p-value
Age			0.2988
<=60	15	12	
>60	13	20	
Sex			1
Male	14	16	
Female	14	16	
Fuhrman grade			0.0126
Low(G1/G2)	17	29	
High(G3/G4)	11	3	
Primary T stage			0.0126
Low(pT1/pT2)	17	29	
High(pT3/pT4)	11	3	
Necrosis			0.1569
Absent	18	26	
Present	10	6	
Venous thrombus			0.4544
Absent	23	29	
Present	5	3	
Relapse			0.0463
Absent	15	27	
Present	12	6	
Vital status			0.0077
Alive	12	25	
Dead	16	7	

 Table 5Correlations between IL-22 expression and clinicopathologic characteristics

3.6 Correlations between IL-22RA1 expression and ccRCC patients' clinicopathologic characteristics

As shown in Table 6, in the aspect of age, in the group which patients aged equal or less than 60 years old, there were 15 cases and 12 cases with high IL-22RA1 expression and low IL-22RA1 expression, respectively. However, in the other group which patients were more than 60 years old, the number of cases expressing high levels and low levels of IL-22RA1 were 19 and 14. There was no significant difference of IL-22RA1 expression between two groups. (p=1)

Regarding gender, there were 21 cases and 9 cases expressing a high and low level of IL-22RA1, respectively in male patients. Meanwhile there were also 13 cases and 17 cases with high and low expression of IL-22RA1 in female patients. This meant there was no significance of IL-22R1 expression between genders (p=0.0673).

In the aspect of Fuhrman grade, the numbers of cases with high and low expression of IL-22RA1 were 21 and 25 in low Fuhrman grade (G1 and G2) group. However, these two values were 13 and 1 in patients with high Fuhrman grade (G3 and G4). According to Fisher's exact test analysis, there was a significance of IL-22RA1 expression between low Fuhrman grade group and high Fuhrman grade group (p=0.0018). However, there was no significant difference (p=0.0718) of IL-22RA1 expression in terms of primary T stage between low stage (pT1 and pT2) and high stage (pT3 and pT4). There were 23 and 23 cases expressing IL-22RA1 in high levels and low levels, respectively in low primary T stage group, and 11 cases expressed high IL-22RA1 in high T stage group, which only 3 patients had IL-22RA1 low expression.

As to necrosis, in patients whose tumor lacked necrosis, there were 22 patients expressing high levels of IL-22RA1 and low levels of IL-22RA1 each, while in necrosis present patients, there were 12 patients expressed a high level of IL-22RA1 and another 4 cases expressed a low level of IL-22RA1. Obviously, the difference of IL-22RA1 expression was not statistically significant between these two groups. (p=0.1399)

In terms of venous thrombus, there were 28 cases without venous thrombus expressing high levels of IL-22RA1, and this number was 24 in low levels of IL-22RA1. However, in venous thrombus present patients, 6 of them expressing high levels of IL-22RA1 and the other 2 expressing low levels of IL-22RA1. The difference of IL-22RA1 expression was not statistically significant between these two groups. (p=0.4463)

The correlation between expression of IL-22RA1 and relapse was analyzed. As shown in the table 5, in patients who did not have relapse, there were 18 and 24 cases expressing high levels of IL-22RA1 and low levels of IL-22RA1, respectively. While in patients that relapsed, these two numbers became 16 and 2. Interestingly, the difference of IL-22RA1 expression was statistically significant between these two groups. (0.0014).

A similar result was seen in terms of vital status, there were 37 patients still alive at the end of follow-up period, among them 21 patients showed high levels of IL-22RA1 expression, the other 16 patients showed low levels of IL-22RA1 expression. In patients who were dead during the follow-up period, the numbers of cases expressing high levels and low levels of IL-22RA1 were 18 and 5, respectively. Similar to relapse, this difference was statistically significant between two groups. (p=0.015)

	IL-22RA1 High	IL-22RA1 Low	p-value
Age			1
<=60	15	12	
>60	19	14	
Sex			0.0673
Male	21	9	
Female	13	17	
Fuhrman grade			0.0018
Low(G1/G2)	21	25	
High(G3/G4)	13	1	
Primary T stage			0.0718
Low(pT1/pT2)	23	23	
High(pT3/pT4)	11	3	

Table 6 Correlations between IL-22RA1 expression and clinicopathologic characteristics

	Results		
Necrosis			0.1399
Absent	22	22	
Present	12	4	
Venous thrombus			0.4463
Absent	28	24	
Present	6	2	
Relapse			0.0014
Absent	18	24	
Present	16	2	
Vital status			0.0150
Alive	16	21	
Dead	18	5	

3.7 Correlations between IL-22 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival

As mentioned above, patients were separated to two groups, IL-22 low group and IL-22 high group, depending on IL-22 expression. First, the overall survival was compared between these two groups. As shown in Figure 14A, the difference of overall survival was statistically significant between two groups (p=0.0031). High expression of IL-22 was associated with shorter overall survival compared with low expression of IL-22. Log-rank test showed Chi-square value was 8.719, hazard ratio was 3.616, 95% CI of ratio was 1.541 to 8.488. Next, the disease-free survival between two groups was compared. The difference was also significance (p=0.0422). High expression of IL-22 was associated with shorter disease-free survival compared

with low expression of IL-22. Log-rank test showed Chi-square value was 4.128, hazard ratio was 2.641, 95% CI of ratio was 1.035 to 6.741. (Figure 14B) Patients with high expression of IL-22 had a shorter overall survival and disease-free survival compared to patients with low expression of IL-22.



Figure 14 IL-22 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates. A Patients with low IL-22 expression have a better overall survival. B Patients with low IL-22 expression have a better disease-free survival.

3.8 Correlations between IL-22RA1 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival

In the same way, the overall survival and disease-free survival were compared between two groups which expressing low levels of IL-22RA1 and high levels of IL-22RA1. As shown in Figure 15A, the difference of overall survival was significant between these two groups of patients (p=0.0196). High expression of IL-22RA1 was associated with poor patient overall survival compared with low expression of IL-22RA1. Chi-square was analyzed by log-rank test, which was 5.451. Hazard ratio was 2.671, 95% CI of ratio was 1.171 to 6.095. Similarly, the difference of disease-free survival was also significant between high and low levels of IL-22RA1 expression patients (p=0.0036), high expression of IL-22RA1 was associated with poor patient disease-free survival compared with low expression of IL-22RA1. Log-rank test showed Chi-square was 8.470. Hazard ratio was 3.978 and 95% CI of ratio was 1.570 to 10.080 (Figure 15B). Patients with high expression level of IL-22RA1 had a shorter overall survival and disease-free survival compared to patients with low expression pattern of IL-22RA1



Figure 15 IL-22R1 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates. A Patients with low expression level of IL-22RA1 have a better overall survival. B Patients with low expression level of IL-22RA1 have a better disease-free survival.
3.9 Correlations between Ki-67 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival

Moreover, the overall survival and disease-free survival between patients expressing low levels and high levels of Ki-67 cells within tumors was compared. As shown in Figure 16A, the difference of overall survival was significant between these two groups of patients (p=0.0461). High expression of Ki-67 was associated with shorter patient overall survival compared with low expression of Ki-67. Chi-square was analyzed by log-rank test, which was 3.976. Hazard ratio was 2.309, 95% CI of ratio was 1.014 to 5.258. Similarly, the difference of disease-free survival was also significant between patients with high and low levels of Ki-67 expression (p=0.0171). High expression of Ki-67 was associated with shorter patient disease-free survival compared with low expression of Ki-67. Log-rank test showed Chi-square value was 5.681, hazard ratio was 3.096 and 95% CI of ratio was 1.222 to 7.839. (Figure 16B) Patients with high expression level of Ki-67 had a shorter overall survival and disease-free survival compared to patients with low expression pattern of Ki-67.



Figure 16 Ki-67 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates. A Patients with low expression level of ki-67 have a better overall survival. B Patients with low expression level of ki-67 have a better disease-free survival.

3.10 Correlations between Caspase-3 and ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival

In addition, a comparison between patients expressing low levels and high levels of caspase-3 was performed. As shown in Figure 17A, there was no significance (p=0.4953) in the difference of overall survival between these two groups of patients. However, there was significance between them in disease-free survival, p=0.0432 (Figure 17B). High expression of caspase-3 was associated with shorter disease-free survival of ccRCC patients. Chi-square value was 4.078, hazard ratio was 2.727, and 95% CI of ratio was 1.031 to 7.211. Patients with high expression level of caspase-3 had a shorter disease-free survival compared to patients with low expression pattern of caspase-3.



Figure 17 Casspase-3 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates. A Patients with high expression and low expression level of caspase-3 have no significant difference in overall survival. B Patients with low expression level of caspase-3 have a better disease-free survival.

3.11 Multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression models for ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival

As list in Table 7 and 8, the independent prognostic values of various parameters were assessed via the multivariate Cox proportional hazards model. Parameters included age (<=60 years vs. >60 years), sex (male vs. female), Fuhrman grade (G1/2 vs. G3/4), stage (pT1/2 vs. pT3/4), necrosis (absent vs. present), venous thrombus (absent vs. present), IL-22 expression (high vs. low), IL-22RA1 expression (high vs. low), Ki-67 expression (high vs. low) and caspase 3 expression (high vs. low). The results showed that tumor stage (HR, 6.046; 95% CI, 0.041 to 0.659; p=0.011), necrosis in tumor (HR, 6.78; 95% CI, 1.562 to 29.433; p=0.011) and IL-22RA1 expression (HR, 3.242; 95% CI, 0.096 to 0.991; p=0.048) were independent prognostic markers for mortality in patients with ccRCC after controlling for conventional clinicopathologic factors. Meanwhile, Fuhrman grade (HR, 5.780; 95% CI, 0.035 to 0.853; p=0.031), tumor stage (HR, 55.296; 95% CI, 0.001 to 0.258; p=0.003), venous thrombus (HR, 22.082; 95% CI, 1.584 to 36.722; p=0.021) and IL-22RA1 expression (HR, 75.355; 95% CI, 1.87 to 20.798; p=0.022) were independent prognostic marker for recurrence.

Parameter	Variable	HR	95% CI	p Value
Age	<=60 vs. >60	0.938	0.382 to 2.301	0.889
Sex	male vs. female	2.557	0.906 to 7.213	0.076
Fuhrman grade	G1/2 vs. G3/4	2.019	0.510 to 7.998	0.317
Stage	p1/2 vs. p3/4	6.046	1.516 to 24.102	0.011
Necrosis	absent vs. present	6.780	1.562 to 29.433	0.011
Venous thrombus	absent vs. present	2.143	0.488 to 9.419	0.313
IL-22	high vs. low	1.738	0.461 to 6.549	0.414
IL-22RA1	high vs. low	3.242	1.010 to 10.412	0.048
Ki-67	high vs. low	0.819	0.274 to 2.447	0.720
Caspase-3	high vs. low	0.565	0.173 to 1.843	0.344

 Table 7
 Multivariable Cox proportional hazards regression model for overall survival

Table 8 Multivariable Cox proportional hazards regression model for disease-free survival

Parameter	Variable	HR	95% CI	p Value
Age	<=60 vs. >60	0.629	0.141 to 2.798	0.543
Sex	male vs. female	1.950	0.235 to 16.192	0.536
Fuhrman grade	G1/2 vs. G3/4	5.780	1.172 to 28.518	0.031
Stage	p1/2 vs. p3/4	55.296	3.883 to 787.444	0.003
Necrosis	absent vs. present	0.273	0.026 to 2.868	0.279
Venous thrombus	absent vs. present	22.082	1.584 to 307.906	0.021
IL-22	high vs. low	5.698	0.884 to 36.772	0.067
IL22-RA1	high vs. low	75.355	1.870 to 3037.342	0.022
Ki-67	high vs. low	0.478	0.048 to 4.760	0.529
Caspase-3	high vs. low	4.773	0.155 to 147.125	0.372

4. Discussion

In this study, we hypothesized that: 1. The expression of IL-22-IL-22RA1 axis proteins is correlated with ccRCC patients' overall survival and disease-free survival in The Cancer Genome Atlas dataset. To this end, we analyzed the clinical and genomic data of ccRCC provided by TCGA using the cBioPortal resource. We found that patients with alterations in IL-22 or IL-22RA1 expression had a significantly shorter overall survival and disease-free survival compared to patients without alterations in IL-22 or IL-22RA1 expression; 2. The expression of IL-22-IL-22RA1 axis proteins is correlated with clinicopathological characteristics of ccRCC patients. To verify this hypothesis, we estimated the expression of IL-22 and IL-22RA1 in our own cohort of ccRCC cases and correlated the expression with clinicopathological characteristics (age, sex, Fuhrman grade, primary T stage, present of necrosis, venous thrombus and relapse) of ccRCC patients. The results showed that IL-22 expression was correlated with Fuhrman grade, primary T stage, relapse and vital status of ccRCC patients. And IL-22RA1 expression was associated with Fuhrman grade, relapse, and vital status of ccRCC patients. 3. ccRCC patients with lower expression level of IL-22, IL-22RA1, IL-22BP, Ki-67, Caspase-3 have a longer overall survival time and disease-free survival time. To verify this point, we estimated the expression of IL-22, IL-22R, and IL-22BP, Ki-67 and Caspase-3 in human ccRCC tissues and correlated the expression with the outcomes of ccRCC patients in our patients' cohort. Immunohistochemical staining

detected IL-22, IL-22RA1, Ki-67, and caspase-3 positive tumor cells, but no IL-22BP positive cell was detected. The result showed that ccRCC patients with high expression of IL-22 had a poor overall survival and disease-free survival compared to patients with low expression of IL-22. This was true also for IL-22RA1 and Ki-67. However, ccRCC patients with high expression of caspase-3 only showed a significantly shorter disease-free survival, but no change in the overall survival. 4. IL-22RA1 and IL-22 are independent predictive factors for prognosis of ccRCC patients. To this purpose, multivariate cox proportional hazards models were used to analyze the impact of prognostic factors on overall survival and disease-free survival. The result revealed that IL-22RA1 but not IL-22, is an independent predictive factor for prognosis of ccRCC patients.

The clinical behavior of ccRCC can be estimated by a combination of multiple prognostic factors. Accurate outcome prediction for patients with ccRCC is important for treatment stratification. Multiple clinical and pathological variables are crucial in predicting outcome in patients with ccRCC. Among them, the pathological stage is recognized as one of the most important variables (Javidan, Stricker et al. 1999, Gettman, Blute et al. 2001). However, some other features such as tumor nuclear grade and histological subtype also play an important role in the outcome. Tumor stage, nuclear grading and the presence of tumor necrosis are considered as the major prognostic indicators (Frank, Blute et al. 2002, Delahunt, McKenney et al. 2013)

Moreover, the tumor stage, size, grade, and necrosis (SSIGN) score was reported first in 2002 for clinicians to assess the effects of tumor characteristics on outcome so that to be used to improve patient management, stratify ccRCC patients for clinical trials to estimate the efficacy of adjuvant therapies as well as develop appropriate postoperative surveillance programs (Frank, Blute et al. 2002).

The Fuhrman grade has gained widespread adoption in clinical practice after Fuhrman's report in 1982 (Fuhrman, Lasky et al. 1982), which is based on tumor nuclear size, shape, and prominence of nucleoli. Following studies made Fuhrman grade more convincible by testing against survival for large series of tumors divided based on RCC subtype (Delahunt 2009). In studies focus on ccRCC, significant differences in survival were noted between each grade or combined grade 1 and 2, grade 3 and 4 (Ficarra, Righetti et al. 2001, Kim, Cho et al. 2004, Ficarra, Martignoni et al. 2005).

In spite of the effort of concerning studies on Fuhrman grade, there are controversies on its reliability. Some researchers demonstrated that Fuhrman grade should not be regarded as a reliable prognostic factor. For instance, one study reported that tumor grade did not provide additional survival data once tumor stage was assigned (Patard, Leray et al. 2005). On the contrary, several other studies noted a significant prognostic role of Fuhrman grade. One group reported that Fuhrman grade significantly associated with cancer stage, distant metastasis and patient survival (Ficarra, Martignoni et al. 2005). Moreover, Ke-Hung Tsui, et al. reported a correlation between advanced tumor stage and high-grade lesion, which indicated that high tumor grade might make tumor more aggressive, thus leading to high stage, distant metastasis as well as diminished survival rates (Tsui, Shvarts et al. 2000).

In our study, the correlation between IL-22 expression and ccRCC patients' clinicopathological characteristics showed that Fuhrman grade was associated with IL-22 expression; a similar result was obtained by correlating Fuhrman grade with IL-22RA1 expression. In the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression model, among all the variables, Fuhrman grade (G1/2 vs. G3/4) was not an independent predictor for overall survival of ccRCC patients. However it was an independent prognostic factor for disease-free survival of ccRCC patients. Above all, Fuhrman grade still can be a useful predictor of the outcome of ccRCC patients, especially in respect to recurrence prediction after surgery. The mechanism of how IL-22 and IL-22RA1 expression impact Fuhrman grade or the other way around is unknown and needs further studies in the future.

Tumor stage is regarded as one of the most powerful predictors of outcome for RCC patients (Selli, Hinshaw et al. 1983, Delahunt, Bethwaite et al. 1994). Over the past several decades, in order to make it even more accurate in patient prognostication, several evidence-based amendments have been added to the TNM staging system of RCC. Primary tumor size and regional spread have been regarded as significant

prognostic factors of RCC and there is a large body of evidence to indicate that tumor size can predict tumor infiltration into the kidney sinus, therefore is a dependent prognostic feature (Delahunt 2009).

Numerous studies on the prognostic significance of tumor size have been reported. From the results of present study, there was a significant correlation between primary T stage and IL-22 expression. Cases expressed a higher level of IL-22 tend to have a higher stage. However, this correlation was not observed in IL-22RA1, although the p-value was only a little higher than 0.05. Interestingly but not surprisingly, multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis implied that primary tumor stage is an independent prognostic factor for both overall survival and disease-free survival in ccRCC patients. ccRCC patients with lower primary tumor stage may have a better outcome. This finding was consistent to previous investigations by other groups.

Coagulative tumor necrosis was first recognized as a prognostic marker of advanced RCC in the 1970s (Amtrup, Hansen et al. 1974, Mancilla-Jimenez, Stanley et al. 1976). Coagulative necrosis is the most common form of necrosis. Typical necrosis has homogeneous clusters, sheets of dead as well as degraded tumor cells that coalesce into an amorphous coagulum (Sengupta, Lohse et al. 2005). One large cohort research with 3009 patients was performed to characterize tumor necrosis as a prognostic feature of RCC, and indicated that histologic coagulative tumor necrosis is an independent predictor of prognosis for ccRCC and chromophobe RCC and that the presence of necrosis indicated an increased hazard for death from RCC (Sengupta, Lohse et al. 2005). However, there are some other studies with different conclusions. One study by Foria et al. shows that extensive necrosis in RCC may imply better short-term prognosis, but this predictive value was abolished after adjusting for tumor pTNM stage (Foria, Surendra et al. 2005). Additionally, Leibovitch et al. performed a consecutive retrospective study of 173 RCC patients after radical nephrectomy, showing that extensive necrosis was not related to kidney tumor biology, but might rather reflect the relation between tumor size and vascularity (Leibovitch, Lev et al. 2001).

In our current study, as one of the clinicopathological features to be assessed, we first correlated the expression of both IL-22 and IL-22RA1 with intratumoral necrosis and did not find a significant correlation between necrosis and the expression of IL-22 or IL-22RA1. Moreover, the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis for disease-free survival implied that necrosis is not an independent predictor of disease-free survival, whereas it was an independent predictor of overall survival for ccRCC patients. The cause of extensive necrosis in RCC is not well understood. Normally it is not very common for RCC tumors to show extensive necrosis, and only 1.6% of all the RCC cases diagnosed with extensive necrosis during 8 years in a regional hospital, and it is a kind of tumor that rarely show spontaneous regression (Hamid and Poller 1998). The reasons for this phenomenon include

auto-infarction which results from renal vein thrombosis, the existence of renal artery atherosclerosis, tumor growth exceeding the vascular supply, or mechanisms of the autoimmune anti-tumor response (Childs, Chernoff et al. 2000). One previous report noted that extensive tumor necrosis might be result of renal tumor spontaneous regression (Hamid and Poller 1998). Since some studies had too small number of cases to perform valuable statistical analysis to estimate the correlation between tumor necrosis and prognosis, more studies should focus on the pattern of necrosis with RCC prognosis as well as the mechanism of necrosis or regression.

As to venous thrombus, there are 5% to 15% of RCC patients with venous thrombus extension, and 20% to 50% of these patients present with metastasis, and the prognosis for this subset is poor (Blute, Leibovich et al. 2004, Terakawa, Miyake et al. 2007, Wagner, Patard et al. 2009, Miyake, Terakawa et al. 2012). One study focus on venous thrombus of RCC demonstrated that inferior vena cava tumor thrombus volume (IVC-TV) may represent a clinical-associated variable for assessment of perioperative complications, disease progression, as well as overall survival, and has a greater predictive value in RCC than the tumor size and metastases (Zargar-Shoshtari, Sharma et al. 2015). Nevertheless, another study indicated that venous tumor thrombus consistency was not predictive of overall survival in RCC patients. They evaluated the prognostic value of venous tumor thrombus consistency in 147 RCC patients with or without venous tumor thrombus, result showed that venous tumor thrombus consistency was not predictive of survival, and did not enhance the performance of a multivariable model which included series informative predictors (Antonelli, Sodano et al. 2015).

In our present study, the result of the correlation between IL-22 expression and clinicopathological variables showed no significant association between IL-22 expression and present of venous thrombus. The same was true for correlation with IL-22RA1 expression and with other clinicopathological characteristics. Moreover, the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression model for overall survival indicated that venous thrombus consistency is not an independent predictor for overall survival of ccRCC patients. Interestingly, the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression model that venous thrombus consistency is not an independent predictor for overall survival of ccRCC patients. Interestingly, the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression model for disease-free survival revealed that venous thrombus consistency is an independent predictor of disease-free survival of ccRCC patients. Considering all the conclusions drawn from previous studies along with our findings, further research, especially including large case cohorts with long-term follow-up periods are still required to decide whether venous thrombus is an independent predictor of survival of RCC patients.

In spite of all the conclusions above, ccRCC is an extremely complicated disease. The disease-free survival and overall survival of ccRCC patients are still not satisfactory. In the past decade, intensive molecular research has provided substantial insight into the biological behavior of RCC and is beginning to shape clinical practice (Shariat and Xylinas 2012). The increasing number of patients raises the need for new

molecular markers to evaluate the risk of death as well as recurrence. Thus, identification and incorporation of these molecular markers is considered to play an important role in the future.

There have been varieties of serum and tissue molecular biomarkers that are suggested as potential prognostic markers. Rabjerg et al. used TaqMan assays to identify superior prognostic makers in a long-term follow-up study and they showed a strong correlation between high expression levels of SPP1 and CSNK2A1 and a poor prognosis in ccRCC patients, while DEFB1 expression was on the contrary associated with a better DFS (Rabjerg, Bjerregaard et al. 2016). Several molecular biomarkers have been identified to guide therapy. The most promising results so far are VEGF, VEGF receptors, CAIX (Carbonic anhydrase IX), HIF-1 α and VHL expression of the tumor (Czarnecka, Kukwa et al. 2014).

Among various molecular biomarkers that have been identified so far, Ki-67 is regarded as a significant prognostic marker in several neoplasms, including RCC (Gerdes 1990). Higher Ki-67 expression predicted shorter survival of RCC (Rioux-Leclercq, Turlin et al. 2000, Visapaa, Bui et al. 2003). Gayed et al. validated Ki-67 as a convictive independent molecular marker to predict outcomes in ccRCC patients (Gayed, Youssef et al. 2014). Another study by Tollefson et al. reported that both Ki-67 and coagulative tumor necrosis are independent predictors of poor outcome for ccRCC patients, however, Ki-67 and coagulative tumor necrosis should not be regarded as surrogates for each other, and both of them should be taken into account when generating prognosis for ccRCC patients (Tollefson, Thompson et al. 2007). In the present study, we measured the expression of Ki-67 in 60 ccRCC patients and assess the correlation between Ki-67 expression and outcome of ccRCC patients. First, from the results of Kaplan-Meier analysis, there are significant differences between high level and low level of Ki-67 expression in both overall survival and disease-free survival, which revealed that ccRCC patients with high expression of Ki-67 tend to have a poor prognosis. Nevertheless, the results from multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis for overall survival and disease-free survival demonstrated that Ki-67 is not an independent predict factor for the outcome of ccRCC patients. This result is somehow inconsistent to some of other studies, even though it is not very explicit in terms of this inconformity, the relatively small number of cases in our study may be one the reasons. Moreover, there may be a correlation between Ki-67 and the IL-22-IL-22R axis, so that the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis shows different results compared to studies not assessing the IL-22-IL-22R axis. Further studies should be designed to identify whether there is an association between expression of IL-22-IL-22 axis and Ki-67.

Apoptosis plays a crucial role in various physiological processes including maintenance of tissue homeostasis (Hengartner 2000). Disorders in physiological pathways of apoptosis contribute to different diseases such as autoimmunity, neurodegeneration and cancer (Reed 1999). Activation of caspase-3 can initiate a specific death-inducing signal involved in the normal apoptotic process and down regulated expression of caspase-3 is correlated with enhanced malignant potential and decreased survival of cancer patients (Frisch and Francis 1994, Glinsky and Glinsky 1996, Kurabayashi, Furihata et al. 2001, Hsia, Chen et al. 2003, Bellini, Cury et al. 2010, Jiang, Gong et al. 2010). We performed immunohistochemical staining for caspase-3 in our tumor tissues and then analyzed the association between the expression of caspase-3 and outcome of ccRCC patients. Kaplan-Meier analysis reveals that there is no significant difference between high level and low level expression of caspase-3 for overall survival. However, there is significant difference between different levels of caspase-3 expression for disease-free survival, indicating that high levels of caspase-3 expression in tumor tissue are associated with a shorter disease-free, but not overall survival. In addition, the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis for overall survival and disease-free survival revealed that caspase-3 is not an independent predict factor for the outcome of ccRCC patients.

IL-22BP is encoded by an IL-22RA1 independent gene (Dumoutier, Lejeune et al. 2001). IL-22BP is found to be expressed on dendritic cells and the expression level decreases when dendritic cells undergo maturation (Chang, Hanawa et al. 2006, Huber, Gagliani et al. 2012, Martin, Beriou et al. 2014). Several studies reported IL-22BP expression in lymphatic organs, the gastrointestinal system, the lungs, the skin, the placenta as well as the breast (Dumoutier, Lejeune et al. 2001, Gruenberg, Schoenemeyer et al. 2001, Kotenko, Izotova et al. 2001, Weiss, Wolk et al. 2004). One study reported that deficiency of IL-22BP leads to accelerated and increased tumorigenesis in a colitis-associated colon cancer mouse model (Huber, Gagliani et al. 2012). However, from the literature no study was found on the correlation between IL-22BP expression and kidney cancer. Interestingly, in the present study IL-22BP positive staining was only detected in adjacent normal kidney tissue, but no staining in tumor tissues, which may imply that IL-22BP has a therapeutic potential by blocking the function of IL-22-IL-22R1 system in IL-22-induced cancer or other diseases. Further studies should be performed to clarify the mechanism of this phenomenon.

In this study, one objective was to identify new prognostic and predictive biomarkers in ccRCC. From others' previous studies, IL-22-IL-22R axis is associated with several types of cancer. The IL-22-IL-22R system seems an important novel target in cancer research. One study performed by Xu et al. revealed a correlation between Notch1 signaling and ccRCC, that Notch1 activation increased ccRCC cell proliferation, enhanced anchorage independent growth regulated by PI3K/Akt pathway (Xu, Zhu et al. 2012). From others' previous studies, it is known that IL-22 does not regulate the function of immune cells directly (Wolk, Kunz et al. 2004). Instead, IL-22 targets cells at barriers of the body, including skin, cells of the pancreas, digestive and respiratory systems, liver, joints as well as kidney (Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014). Considered that IL-22 signaling pathway may be involved in Notch1 signaling, we assumed that IL-22 also plays a role in ccRCC.

Among all the studies focus on IL-22 and cancers, IL-22 is most unambiguously pro-tumoral in tumors of the gastrointestinal tract (Lim and Savan 2014). Patients suffering from gastric cancer have higher circulating frequencies of IL-17 and IL-22 producing T cells compared to healthy subjects, and these T cells correlated inversely with the survival time of patients, while correlating directly with the stage of cancer (Liu, Peng et al. 2012). Renal cell carcinoma is originating from the lining epithelium of proximal convoluted tubules (Capitanio and Montorsi 2016). In pancreatic cancer, expression of IL-22 and IL-22R was increased in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma tissue and both predict poor patient survival (Wen, Liao et al. 2014). One study on hepatocellular carcinoma indicated that high levels of IL-22 in the serum are associated with a poor outcome in both HBV (Hepatitis B Virus) and HCV (Hepatitis C Virus)-induced hepatocellular carcinoma (Waidmann, Kronenberger et al. 2014). In addition, aberrant expression of IL-22R1 was found in lymphoma patients. Compared to normal lymph nodes, primary central nervous system lymphomas showed higher IL-22R1 expression (Sung, Kim et al. 2011).

In terms of the kidney, no publication was found in PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/) in respect of the correlation between IL-22 or IL-22R expression and RCC. Only one study focus on the effects of IL-22 on human

RCC cell line A498 in vivo and in vitro, showing that IL-22 suppressed A498 cells in vitro and inhibited A498 cell-bearing mouse xenografts (Zhang, Shang et al. 2011). This result seems to be inconsistent to our study. The result from the other study implied that IL-22 might play an anti-RCC role in A498 cell line partially mediated by STAT1 signaling pathway regulation as well as G2/M cell cycle arrest. However, our study showed that IL-22 might promote the progress of ccRCC. One explanation for these different results is that different study objects were used. The biological behavior of tumor cells is not always consistent between cell lines and real tumors from patients. Additionally, IL-22 may have different effects not only in cell lines and real tumors, but also in different phases of tumor progression. What's more, IL-22 may play different roles in different cell lines. For instance, because IL-22 plays its role by IL-22/IL-22RA1 signaling pathway, the cell lines with more expression of IL-22RA1 will have more IL-22 effect. Thus, different cell lines should be used in further studies covering this subject.

From the TCGA results, we gained knowledge on correlations between alterations in IL-22/IL-22RA1 expression and the outcome of ccRCC patients. Patients with high expression of either IL-22 or IL-22RA1 presented with shorter outcomes than patients with low expression of IL-22 or IL-22RA1. Based on the varieties of studies mentioned above, we measured the expression of IL-22 and IL-22RA1 in ccRCC and to estimate their relationship with clinicopathological characteristics as well as prognosis in ccRCC. Moreover, the study of TCGA data is based on gene expression,

and what we did next is to assess the effect of IL-22 and IL-22RA1 on protein expression levels from Munich ccRCC patients' cohort.

From the results of immunohistochemical staining, IL-22 expression was detected in the kidney cancer tissues. However, it is not easy to figure out where exactly this cytokine is located. As mentioned above, IL-22 belongs to a cytokine family that is involved in tissue homeostasis. IL-22 was originally found to be expressed in T cells of both human and mouse (Dumoutier, Louahed et al. 2000, Wolk, Kunz et al. 2002). In humans, the main producers of IL-22 are innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), TH17 cells, and TH22 cells, particularly at mucosal surfaces (Duhen, Geiger et al. 2009, Trifari, Kaplan et al. 2009, Sonnenberg, Fouser et al. 2011). IL-22 is produced by CD3+ (CD4-CD8-) oligoclonal T cells that are detected in epithelia of the organs mentioned above (Bonneville, O'Brien et al. 2010). In the current study, the expression of IL-22 in ccRCC is significantly correlated with Fuhrman grade, primary T stage, relapse and vital status, which indicated that IL-22 may impact the outcome of ccRCC. Kaplan-Meier analysis demonstrated that high expression of IL-22 is associated with poor prognosis in ccRCC. However, multivariate analysis showed that high expression of IL-22 is not an independent prognostic factor of either overall survival or disease-free survival. This result is not consistent with some other studies. For instance, Zhang Wen et al. demonstrated that IL-22 is an independent prognostic factor of overall survival in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Wen, Liao et al. 2014). Jiang et al. found IL-22 to be overexpressed in human hepatocellular carcinoma

microenvironment, which might lead to tumor growth, inhibition of apoptosis, and promotion of metastasis due to STAT3 activation (Jiang, Tan et al. 2011). In contrast, Kobold et al. did not observe a correlation between IL-22 expression by immunohistochemistry and prognosis in lung cancer, which suggested IL-22 not to be a predictor for lung cancer patients (Kobold, Volk et al. 2013). These findings indicate that the predictive role of IL-22 might differ between different organs.

When it comes to the therapeutic role of the IL-22/IL-22R axis in cancer patients, no investigation has been performed so far One study established hepatocyte-specific IL-22Ra1 knockout (II22Ra1^{Hep-/-}) and Stat3 knockout (Stat3^{Hep-/-}) mouse models to study the therapeutic role of IL-22 in experimental intra-abdominal Klebsiella pneumonia infection in mice. They infected the mice with Klebsiella pneumonia that resulted in liver injury and necrosis, and the result indicated that IL-22 overexpression or therapeutic administration of rIL-22 (recombinant IL-22) reduced bacterial burden in both the liver and spleen, therefore IL-22 may be a useful adjunct in treating hepatic as well as intra-abdominal infections (Zheng, Horne et al. 2016). Moreover, in lung cancer cells IL-22 acts as an autocrine factor to make cancer cell survival and resistance to chemotherapy. Meanwhile, this therapeutic effect was found in vivo in a xenograft model by IL-22 RNAi (RNA interference) plasmids (Zhang, Chen et al. 2008). There are many other studies demonstrating that IL-22 expression was positively correlated with tumor growth, metastasis and tumor stages (Jiang, Tan et al. 2011).

Immunohistochemical staining for ccRCC tissues showed that IL-22RA1 was expressed at the cell membrane and in the cytoplasm. As we know, the functional IL-22RA1 is restricted to nonhematopoietic cells of the pancreas, liver, skin, intestine, lung and kidney (Wolk, Kunz et al. 2004). It is believed that immune cells are not the target cell of IL-22, monocytes, B cells, T cells, NK cells, monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells do not express IL-22RA1 (Wolk, Kunz et al. 2002, Wolk, Kunz et al. 2004, Wolk, Witte et al. 2008). Both IL-22RA1 and IL-10R2 chains of the IL-22 receptor are expressed constitutively in many organs, and epithelial cell lines derived from these organs respond to IL-22 in vitro (Kotenko 2002). The expression of IL-22RA1 determines the sensitivity of the cells towards IL-22 (Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014). IL-22 binds to its receptor chains in a temporal mechanism and IL-22 correlated with the extracellular domain of IL-22RA1 (Li, Tomkinson et al. 2004). IL-22 primarily acts on epithelial cells to perform barrier function (Aujla, Chan et al. 2008). Ligation of IL-22RA1 induces migration and proliferation of epithelia in these organs, so that the barrier integrity is enhanced by molecular variation such as phosphorylation of STAT3, activation of MAP kinase, and activation of proliferative genes like c-Myc and cyclin D1 (Xie, Aggarwal et al. 2000, Lejeune, Dumoutier et al. 2002). One study by Joseph Franz, et al. noted that IL-22RA1 is shuttled for degradation by a functionally non-described human protein named FBXW12 (F-BOX and WD Repeat Domain Containing 12). Increasing FBXW12 may suppress IL-22RA1 expression and IL-22 dependent cellular responses, in addition, FBXW12 upregulates IL-22RA1 expression level and signaling (Franz, Jerome et al. 2015).

In the recent study, IL-22RA1 seems to be a promising prognosis marker for ccRCC patients. Patients with a high level IL-22RA1 expression tend to have shorter overall and disease-free survivals, and, more interestingly, IL-22RA1 can be regarded as an independent predictor of both overall survival and disease-free survival from the result of multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis. This conclusion is consistent with the results from TCGA, which also suggests a potential role of IL-22RA1 in ccRCC patients. Nevertheless, in the current study we only detected protein levels of IL-22 and IL-22RA1 expression in ccRCC tissues, hence mRNA levels of IL-22 and IL-22RA1 should be assessed as well, and further studies on the IL-22-IL-22R pathway and their mechanism in cancer are still necessary before clinical application of our findings.

Several potential therapeutic options may exist to target the molecules in IL-22-IL-22RA1 system. For instance, TNF -specific antibody or p40-specific antibody can block cytokines like TNF and IL-23, so that inhibit the activation and survival of T helper cells, as reported that adalimumab and ustekinumab can be used in psoriasis (Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014). Antagonists can block T helper cell-specific transcription factors that promote IL-22 production such as Ahr. Additionally, IL-22 can be inhibited by antibodies or IL-22BP. Furthermore, antibodies targeting IL-22RA1 (IL-22RA1-blocking-antibody) can neutralize the function of IL-22RA1 by inhibiting the binding of IL-22 to IL-22RA1. Moreover, inhibitors that target downstream

molecules such as STAT3, JAK1 and TYK2 may also block the IL-22-IL-22RA1 pathway. The use of IL-22RA1 blocking antibodies seems to be one of the most appropriate therapeutic strategies for various reasons. The most convincing reason is this inhibition is highly specific in the IL-22-IL-22RA1 system, so that very limited unwanted effects will be produced. In addition, IL-22RA1 is not expressed in immune cells. Instead, it is only expressed by epithelial cells from several organs. This phenomenon makes it impossible to produce dominating systemic immune activation or inhibition (Sabat, Ouyang et al. 2014). The possible pathway of IL-22-IL-22RA1 in renal cell carcinoma is shown in figure 18.



Figure 18 IL-22-IL-22RA1 pathway in renal cell carcinoma. IL-22 released from T cell binds to IL-22RA1 on renal cancer cell, leading to the activation of downstream IL-22RA1 target genes.

However, there are limitations to the conclusions drawn from the present study:

1. With regard to the TCGA cohort analysis, no multivariate analysis is provided to evaluate the independent prognostic significance of IL-22/IL-22R expression.

Further no data regarding the duration of follow-up or the number of events in this cohort was available.

- With regard to the Munich cohort, the number of the cases might be too limited (n=60) to provide definitive results.
- 3. The number of events within this cohort is small (18 recurrence events and 23 deaths). The low event rate hampers the ability to control for multiple variables (Age, Sex, Grade, Stage, Necrosis, Venous Thrombosis, IL-22, and IL-22R) and might lead to a bias in the statistical results.

Obviously, evolving data suggest that inhibiting the activity of IL-22-IL-22R1 system may be a therapy for many diseases. Even though there is still a long way to go before using these approaches to patients, however, we should keep in mind that it is a promising potential therapeutic option for IL-22-IL-22R1 system-associated diseases. IL-22RA1 status may act as a prognostic factor potential target for therapy to overcome drug resistance.

5. References

Aggarwal, S., M. H. Xie, M. Maruoka, J. Foster and A. L. Gurney (2001). "Acinar cells of the pancreas are a target of interleukin-22." J Interferon Cytokine Res **21**(12): 1047-1053.

Alam, M. S., Y. Maekawa, A. Kitamura, K. Tanigaki, T. Yoshimoto, K. Kishihara and K. Yasutomo (2010). "Notch signaling drives IL-22 secretion in CD4+ T cells by stimulating the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **107**(13): 5943-5948.

Amtrup, F., J. B. Hansen and E. Thybo (1974). "Prognosis in renal carcinoma evaluated from histological criteria." <u>Scand J Urol Nephrol</u> **8**(3): 198-202.

Andoh, A., Z. Zhang, O. Inatomi, S. Fujino, Y. Deguchi, Y. Araki, T. Tsujikawa, K. Kitoh, S. Kim-Mitsuyama, A. Takayanagi, N. Shimizu and Y. Fujiyama (2005). "Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts." <u>Gastroenterology</u> **129**(3): 969-984.

Antonelli, A., M. Sodano, M. Sandri, R. Tardanico, M. Yarigina, M. Furlan, G. Galvagni, T. Zanotelli, A. Cozzoli and C. Simeone (2015). "Venous tumor thrombus consistency is not predictive of survival in patients with renal cell carcinoma: A retrospective study of 147 patients." <u>Int J Urol</u> **22**(6): 534-539.

Aujla, S. J., Y. R. Chan, M. Zheng, M. Fei, D. J. Askew, D. A. Pociask, T. A. Reinhart, F. McAllister, J. Edeal, K. Gaus, S. Husain, J. L. Kreindler, P. J. Dubin, J. M. Pilewski, M. M. Myerburg, C. A. Mason, Y. Iwakura and J. K. Kolls (2008). "IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia." <u>Nat Med</u> **14**(3): 275-281. Barak, H., K. Surendran and S. C. Boyle (2012). "The role of Notch signaling in kidney development and disease." Adv Exp Med Biol **727**: 99-113.

Bellini, M. F., P. M. Cury and A. E. Silva (2010). "Expression of ki-67 antigen and caspase-3 protein in benign lesions and esophageal carcinoma." <u>Anticancer Res</u> **30**(7): 2845-2849.

Biswas, S., J. Kelly and T. Eisen (2009). "Cytoreductive nephrectomy in metastatic clear-cell renal cell carcinoma: perspectives in the tyrosine kinase inhibitor era." <u>Oncologist</u> **14**(1): 52-59.

Blute, M. L., B. C. Leibovich, C. M. Lohse, J. C. Cheville and H. Zincke (2004). "The Mayo Clinic experience with surgical management, complications and outcome for patients with renal cell carcinoma and venous tumour thrombus." <u>BJU Int</u> **94**(1): 33-41.

Boniface, K., E. Guignouard, N. Pedretti, M. Garcia, A. Delwail, F. X. Bernard, F. Nau, G. Guillet, G. Dagregorio, H. Yssel, J. C. Lecron and F. Morel (2007). "A role for T cell-derived interleukin 22 in psoriatic skin inflammation." <u>Clin Exp Immunol</u> **150**(3): 407-415.

Bonneville, M., R. L. O'Brien and W. K. Born (2010). "Gammadelta T cell effector functions: a blend of innate programming and acquired plasticity." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **10**(7): 467-478.

Brand, S., J. Dambacher, F. Beigel, K. Zitzmann, M. H. Heeg, T. S. Weiss, T. Prufer, T. Olszak, C. J. Steib, M. Storr, B. Goke, H. Diepolder, M. Bilzer, W. E. Thasler and C. J. Auernhammer (2007). "IL-22-mediated liver cell regeneration is abrogated by SOCS-1/3 overexpression in vitro." <u>Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol</u> **292**(4): G1019-1028.

Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N. (2013). "Comprehensive molecular characterization of clear cell renal cell carcinoma." Nature **499**(7456): 43-49.

Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N., J. N. Weinstein, E. A. Collisson, G. B. Mills, K. R. Shaw, B. A. Ozenberger, K. Ellrott, I. Shmulevich, C. Sander and J. M. Stuart (2013). "The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer analysis project." <u>Nat Genet</u> **45**(10): 1113-1120.

Capitanio, U. and F. Montorsi (2016). "Renal cancer." Lancet 387(10021): 894-906.

Cerami, E., J. Gao, U. Dogrusoz, B. E. Gross, S. O. Sumer, B. A. Aksoy, A. Jacobsen, C. J. Byrne, M. L. Heuer, E. Larsson, Y. Antipin, B. Reva, A. P. Goldberg, C. Sander and N. Schultz (2012). "The cBio cancer genomics portal: an open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data." <u>Cancer Discov</u> **2**(5): 401-404.

Chang, H., H. Hanawa, H. Liu, T. Yoshida, M. Hayashi, R. Watanabe, S. Abe, K. Toba, K. Yoshida, R. Elnaggar, S. Minagawa, Y. Okura, K. Kato, M. Kodama, H. Maruyama, J. Miyazaki and Y. Aizawa (2006). "Hydrodynamic-based delivery of an interleukin-22-Ig fusion gene ameliorates experimental autoimmune myocarditis in rats." <u>J Immunol</u> **177**(6): 3635-3643.

Chen, K., H. Zhao, Z. Hu, L. E. Wang, W. Zhang, E. M. Sturgis and Q. Wei (2008).

"CASP3 polymorphisms and risk of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **14**(19): 6343-6349.

Cheng, F., Z. Guo, H. Xu, D. Yan and Q. Li (2009). "Decreased plasma IL22 levels, but not increased IL17 and IL23 levels, correlate with disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus." <u>Ann Rheum Dis</u> **68**(4): 604-606.

Childs, R., A. Chernoff, N. Contentin, E. Bahceci, D. Schrump, S. Leitman, E. J. Read, J. Tisdale, C. Dunbar, W. M. Linehan, N. S. Young and A. J. Barrett (2000). "Regression of metastatic renal-cell carcinoma after nonmyeloablative allogeneic peripheral-blood stem-cell transplantation." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **343**(11): 750-758.

Choueiri, T. K., M. Fishman, B. Escudier, D. F. McDermott, C. G. Drake, H. M. Kluger, W. M. Stadler, J. L. Perez-Gracia, D. G. McNeel, B. D. Curti, M. R. Harrison, E. R. Plimack, L. Appleman, L. Fong, L. Albiges, L. J. Cohen, T. C. Young, S. D. Chasalow, P. Ross-MacDonald, S. Srivastava, M. Jure-Kunkel, J. F. Kurland, J. S. Simon and M. Sznol (2016). "Immunomodulatory Activity of Nivolumab in Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma." Clin Cancer Res.

Choueiri, T. K. and R. J. Motzer (2017). "Systemic Therapy for Metastatic Renal-Cell Carcinoma." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **376**(4): 354-366.

Chow, W. H. and S. S. Devesa (2008). "Contemporary epidemiology of renal cell cancer." <u>Cancer J</u> **14**(5): 288-301.

Chow, W. H., G. Gridley, J. F. Fraumeni, Jr. and B. Jarvholm (2000). "Obesity, hypertension, and the risk of kidney cancer in men." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **343**(18): 1305-1311.

Colaprico, A., T. C. Silva, C. Olsen, L. Garofano, C. Cava, D. Garolini, T. S. Sabedot, T. M. Malta, S. M. Pagnotta, I. Castiglioni, M. Ceccarelli, G. Bontempi and H. Noushmehr (2016). "TCGAbiolinks: an R/Bioconductor package for integrative analysis of TCGA data." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **44**(8): e71.

Cordero-Coma, M., S. Calleja, M. Llorente, E. Rodriguez, M. Franco and J. G. Ruiz de Morales (2013). "Serum cytokine profile in adalimumab-treated refractory uveitis patients: decreased IL-22 correlates with clinical responses." <u>Ocul Immunol Inflamm</u> **21**(3): 212-219.

Czarnecka, A. M., W. Kukwa, A. Kornakiewicz, F. Lian and C. Szczylik (2014). "Clinical and molecular prognostic and predictive biomarkers in clear cell renal cell cancer." <u>Future Oncol</u> **10**(15): 2493-2508. da Rocha, L. F., Jr., A. L. Duarte, A. T. Dantas, H. A. Mariz, R. Pitta Ida, S. L. Galdino and M. G. Pitta (2012). "Increased serum interleukin 22 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and correlation with disease activity." <u>J Rheumatol</u> **39**(7): 1320-1325.

Davis, C. J., Jr., F. K. Mostofi and I. A. Sesterhenn (1995). "Renal medullary carcinoma. The seventh sickle cell nephropathy." <u>Am J Surg Pathol</u> **19**(1): 1-11.

Delahunt, B. (2009). "Advances and controversies in grading and staging of renal cell carcinoma." Mod Pathol **22 Suppl 2**: S24-36.

Delahunt, B., P. Bethwaite and J. N. Nacey (1994). "Renal cell carcinoma in New Zealand: a national survival study." <u>Urology</u> **43**(3): 300-309.

Delahunt, B., J. K. McKenney, C. M. Lohse, B. C. Leibovich, R. H. Thompson, S. A. Boorjian and J. C. Cheville (2013). "A novel grading system for clear cell renal cell carcinoma incorporating tumor necrosis." <u>Am J Surg Pathol</u> **37**(3): 311-322.

Dudakov, J. A., A. M. Hanash, R. R. Jenq, L. F. Young, A. Ghosh, N. V. Singer, M. L. West, O. M. Smith, A. M. Holland, J. J. Tsai, R. L. Boyd and M. R. van den Brink (2012). "Interleukin-22 drives endogenous thymic regeneration in mice." <u>Science</u> **336**(6077): 91-95.

Dudakov, J. A., A. M. Hanash and M. R. van den Brink (2015). "Interleukin-22: immunobiology and pathology." Annu Rev Immunol **33**: 747-785.

Duhen, T., R. Geiger, D. Jarrossay, A. Lanzavecchia and F. Sallusto (2009). "Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells." Nat Immunol **10**(8): 857-863.

Dumoutier, L., D. Lejeune, D. Colau and J. C. Renauld (2001). "Cloning and characterization of IL-22 binding protein, a natural antagonist of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor/IL-22." J Immunol **166**(12): 7090-7095.

Dumoutier, L., J. Louahed and J. C. Renauld (2000). "Cloning and characterization of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor (IL-TIF), a novel cytokine structurally related to IL-10 and inducible by IL-9." J Immunol **164**(4): 1814-1819.

Dumoutier, L., E. Van Roost, D. Colau and J. C. Renauld (2000). "Human interleukin-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor: molecular cloning and functional characterization as an hepatocyte-stimulating factor." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> <u>U S A</u> **97**(18): 10144-10149.

Edge, S. B. and C. C. Compton (2010). "The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM." <u>Ann Surg</u>

<u>Oncol</u> **17**(6): 1471-1474.

Eyerich, S., K. Eyerich, D. Pennino, T. Carbone, F. Nasorri, S. Pallotta, F. Cianfarani, T. Odorisio, C. Traidl-Hoffmann, H. Behrendt, S. R. Durham, C. B. Schmidt-Weber and A. Cavani (2009). "Th22 cells represent a distinct human T cell subset involved in epidermal immunity and remodeling." J Clin Invest **119**(12): 3573-3585.

Ficarra, V., G. Martignoni, N. Maffei, M. Brunelli, G. Novara, L. Zanolla, M. Pea and W. Artibani (2005). "Original and reviewed nuclear grading according to the Fuhrman system: a multivariate analysis of 388 patients with conventional renal cell carcinoma." Cancer **103**(1): 68-75.

Ficarra, V., R. Righetti, G. Martignoni, A. D'Amico, S. Pilloni, E. Rubilotta, G. Malossini and G. Mobilio (2001). "Prognostic value of renal cell carcinoma nuclear grading: multivariate analysis of 333 cases." <u>Urol Int</u> **67**(2): 130-134.

Fleming, S. and H. J. Lewi (1986). "Collecting duct carcinoma of the kidney." Histopathology **10**(11): 1131-1141.

Foria, V., T. Surendra and D. N. Poller (2005). "Prognostic relevance of extensive necrosis in renal cell carcinoma." J Clin Pathol **58**(1): 39-43.

Frank, I., M. L. Blute, J. C. Cheville, C. M. Lohse, A. L. Weaver and H. Zincke (2002). "An outcome prediction model for patients with clear cell renal cell carcinoma treated with radical nephrectomy based on tumor stage, size, grade and necrosis: the SSIGN score." J Urol **168**(6): 2395-2400.

Franz, J., J. Jerome, T. Lear, Q. Gong and N. M. Weathington (2015). "The Human IL-22 Receptor Is Regulated through the Action of the Novel E3 Ligase Subunit FBXW12, Which Functions as an Epithelial Growth Suppressor." <u>J Immunol Res</u> **2015**: 912713.

Frisch, S. M. and H. Francis (1994). "Disruption of epithelial cell-matrix interactions induces apoptosis." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **124**(4): 619-626.

Fuhrman, S. A., L. C. Lasky and C. Limas (1982). "Prognostic significance of morphologic parameters in renal cell carcinoma." <u>Am J Surg Pathol</u> **6**(7): 655-663.

Gao, J., B. A. Aksoy, U. Dogrusoz, G. Dresdner, B. Gross, S. O. Sumer, Y. Sun, A. Jacobsen, R. Sinha, E. Larsson, E. Cerami, C. Sander and N. Schultz (2013). "Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal." Sci Signal **6**(269): pl1.

Garrett-Sinha, L. A., S. John and S. L. Gaffen (2008). "IL-17 and the Th17 lineage in

systemic lupus erythematosus." Curr Opin Rheumatol 20(5): 519-525.

Gati, A., S. Kouidhi, R. Marrakchi, A. El Gaaied, N. Kourda, A. Derouiche, M. Chebil, A. Caignard and A. Perier (2014). "Obesity and renal cancer: Role of adipokines in the tumor-immune system conflict." <u>Oncoimmunology</u> **3**(1): e27810.

Gayed, B. A., R. F. Youssef, A. Bagrodia, O. M. Darwish, P. Kapur, A. Sagalowsky, Y. Lotan and V. Margulis (2014). "Ki67 is an independent predictor of oncological outcomes in patients with localized clear-cell renal cell carcinoma." <u>BJU Int</u> **113**(4): 668-673.

Gerdes, J. (1990). "Ki-67 and other proliferation markers useful for immunohistological diagnostic and prognostic evaluations in human malignancies." <u>Semin Cancer Biol 1(3)</u>: 199-206.

Gettman, M. T., M. L. Blute, B. Spotts, S. C. Bryant and H. Zincke (2001). "Pathologic staging of renal cell carcinoma: significance of tumor classification with the 1997 TNM staging system." <u>Cancer</u> **91**(2): 354-361.

Glinsky, G. V. and V. V. Glinsky (1996). "Apoptosis amd metastasis: a superior resistance of metastatic cancer cells to programmed cell death." <u>Cancer Lett</u> **101**(1): 43-51.

Gruenberg, B. H., A. Schoenemeyer, B. Weiss, L. Toschi, S. Kunz, K. Wolk, K. Asadullah and R. Sabat (2001). "A novel, soluble homologue of the human IL-10 receptor with preferential expression in placenta." <u>Genes Immun</u> **2**(6): 329-334.

Guillon, A., F. Gueugnon, K. Mavridis, E. Dalloneau, Y. Jouan, P. Diot, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, Y. Courty and M. Si-Tahar (2016). "Interleukin-22 receptor is overexpressed in nonsmall cell lung cancer and portends a poor prognosis." <u>Eur</u> <u>Respir J</u> **47**(4): 1277-1280.

Guo, G., Y. Gui, S. Gao, A. Tang, X. Hu, Y. Huang, W. Jia, Z. Li, M. He, L. Sun, P. Song, X. Sun, X. Zhao, S. Yang, C. Liang, S. Wan, F. Zhou, C. Chen, J. Zhu, X. Li, M. Jian, L. Zhou, R. Ye, P. Huang, J. Chen, T. Jiang, X. Liu, Y. Wang, J. Zou, Z. Jiang, R. Wu, S. Wu, F. Fan, Z. Zhang, L. Liu, R. Yang, X. Liu, H. Wu, W. Yin, X. Zhao, Y. Liu, H. Peng, B. Jiang, Q. Feng, C. Li, J. Xie, J. Lu, K. Kristiansen, Y. Li, X. Zhang, S. Li, J. Wang, H. Yang, Z. Cai and J. Wang (2012). "Frequent mutations of genes encoding ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis pathway components in clear cell renal cell carcinoma." <u>Nat Genet</u> **44**(1): 17-19.

Gurney, A. L. (2004). "IL-22, a Th1 cytokine that targets the pancreas and select other

peripheral tissues." Int Immunopharmacol 4(5): 669-677.

Hagemann, J. H., H. Haegele, S. Muller and H. J. Anders (2013). "Danger control programs cause tissue injury and remodeling." <u>Int J Mol Sci</u> **14**(6): 11319-11346.

Hamid, Y. and D. N. Poller (1998). "Spontaneous regression of renal cell carcinoma: a pitfall in diagnosis of renal lesions." J Clin Pathol **51**(4): 334-336.

Harshman, L. C., C. G. Drake and T. K. Choueiri (2014). "PD-1 blockade in renal cell carcinoma: to equilibrium and beyond." Cancer Immunol Res **2**(12): 1132-1141.

Hengartner, M. O. (2000). "The biochemistry of apoptosis." <u>Nature</u> **407**(6805): 770-776.

Hosgood, H. D., 3rd, D. Baris, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhu, T. Zheng, M. Yeager, R. Welch, S. Zahm, S. Chanock, N. Rothman and Q. Lan (2008). "Caspase polymorphisms and genetic susceptibility to multiple myeloma." <u>Hematol Oncol</u> **26**(3): 148-151.

Hsia, J. Y., C. Y. Chen, J. T. Chen, C. P. Hsu, S. E. Shai, S. S. Yang, C. Y. Chuang, P. Y. Wang and J. Miaw (2003). "Prognostic significance of caspase-3 expression in primary resected esophageal squamous cell carcinoma." <u>Eur J Surg Oncol</u> **29**(1): 44-48.

Huber, S., N. Gagliani, L. A. Zenewicz, F. J. Huber, L. Bosurgi, B. Hu, M. Hedl, W. Zhang, W. O'Connor, Jr., A. J. Murphy, D. M. Valenzuela, G. D. Yancopoulos, C. J. Booth, J. H. Cho, W. Ouyang, C. Abraham and R. A. Flavell (2012). "IL-22BP is regulated by the inflammasome and modulates tumorigenesis in the intestine." <u>Nature</u> **491**(7423): 259-263.

Hunt, J. D., O. L. van der Hel, G. P. McMillan, P. Boffetta and P. Brennan (2005). "Renal cell carcinoma in relation to cigarette smoking: meta-analysis of 24 studies." Int J Cancer **114**(1): 101-108.

Javidan, J., H. J. Stricker, P. Tamboli, M. B. Amin, J. O. Peabody, A. Deshpande, M. Menon and M. B. Amin (1999). "Prognostic significance of the 1997 TNM classification of renal cell carcinoma." J Urol **162**(4): 1277-1281.

Ji, Y., X. Yang, J. Li, Z. Lu, X. Li, J. Yu and N. Li (2014). "IL-22 promotes the migration and invasion of gastric cancer cells via IL-22R1/AKT/MMP-9 signaling." <u>Int J Clin Exp</u> <u>Pathol</u> **7**(7): 3694-3703.

Jiang, H., M. Gong, Y. Cui, K. Ma, D. Chang and T. Y. Wang (2010). "Upregulation of caspase-3 expression in esophageal cancer correlates with favorable prognosis: an immunohistochemical study from a high incidence area in northern China." <u>Dis</u>

Esophagus 23(6): 487-492.

Jiang, R., Z. Tan, L. Deng, Y. Chen, Y. Xia, Y. Gao, X. Wang and B. Sun (2011). "Interleukin-22 promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma by activation of STAT3." <u>Hepatology</u> **54**(3): 900-909.

Jiang, R., H. Wang, L. Deng, J. Hou, R. Shi, M. Yao, Y. Gao, A. Yao, X. Wang, L. Yu and B. Sun (2013). "IL-22 is related to development of human colon cancer by activation of STAT3." BMC Cancer **13**: 59.

Jones, B. C., N. J. Logsdon and M. R. Walter (2008). "Structure of IL-22 bound to its high-affinity IL-22R1 chain." Structure **16**(9): 1333-1344.

Ke, Y., D. Sun, G. Jiang, H. J. Kaplan and H. Shao (2011). "IL-22-induced regulatory CD11b+ APCs suppress experimental autoimmune uveitis." <u>J Immunol</u> **187**(5): 2130-2139.

Keizman, D., N. Maimon, M. Mishaeli, I. Kuchuk and M. Gottfried (2015). "[the Current Approach to Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma]." <u>Harefuah</u> **154**(8): 535-539.

Ki, S. H., O. Park, M. Zheng, O. Morales-Ibanez, J. K. Kolls, R. Bataller and B. Gao (2010). "Interleukin-22 treatment ameliorates alcoholic liver injury in a murine model of chronic-binge ethanol feeding: role of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3." Hepatology **52**(4): 1291-1300.

Kim, H., N. H. Cho, D. S. Kim, Y. M. Kwon, E. K. Kim, S. H. Rha, Y. W. Park, J. W. Shim, S. S. Lee, S. N. Lee, J. Lee, J. S. Lee, T. J. Lee, S. J. Jung, S. H. Jung, J. H. Chung, H. Y. Cho, H. J. Joo, Y. J. Choi, C. Choi, W. S. Han, B. Hur, J. Y. Ro and P. Genitourinary Pathology Study Group of the Korean Society of (2004). "Renal cell carcinoma in South Korea: a multicenter study." Hum Pathol **35**(12): 1556-1563.

Kim, K., G. Kim, J. Y. Kim, H. J. Yun, S. C. Lim and H. S. Choi (2014). "Interleukin-22 promotes epithelial cell transformation and breast tumorigenesis via MAP3K8 activation." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> **35**(6): 1352-1361.

Kinslow, C. J., R. A. El-Zein, C. E. Hill, J. K. Wickliffe and S. Z. Abdel-Rahman (2008). "Single nucleotide polymorphisms 5' upstream the coding region of the NEIL2 gene influence gene transcription levels and alter levels of genetic damage." <u>Genes</u> Chromosomes Cancer **47**(11): 923-932.

Kobold, S., S. Volk, T. Clauditz, N. J. Kupper, S. Minner, A. Tufman, P. Duwell, M. Lindner, I. Koch, S. Heidegger, S. Rothenfuer, M. Schnurr, R. M. Huber, W. Wilczak and S. Endres (2013). "Interleukin-22 is frequently expressed in small- and large-cell

lung cancer and promotes growth in chemotherapy-resistant cancer cells." <u>J Thorac</u> <u>Oncol</u> **8**(8): 1032-1042.

Kong, X., D. Feng, H. Wang, F. Hong, A. Bertola, F. S. Wang and B. Gao (2012). "Interleukin-22 induces hepatic stellate cell senescence and restricts liver fibrosis in mice." Hepatology **56**(3): 1150-1159.

Kotenko, S. V. (2002). "The family of IL-10-related cytokines and their receptors: related, but to what extent?" Cytokine Growth Factor Rev **13**(3): 223-240.

Kotenko, S. V., L. S. Izotova, O. V. Mirochnitchenko, E. Esterova, H. Dickensheets, R. P. Donnelly and S. Pestka (2001). "Identification of the functional interleukin-22 (IL-22) receptor complex: the IL-10R2 chain (IL-10Rbeta) is a common chain of both the IL-10 and IL-22 (IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor, IL-TIF) receptor complexes." J Biol Chem **276**(4): 2725-2732.

Kotenko, S. V., L. S. Izotova, O. V. Mirochnitchenko, E. Esterova, H. Dickensheets, R. P. Donnelly and S. Pestka (2001). "Identification, cloning, and characterization of a novel soluble receptor that binds IL-22 and neutralizes its activity." <u>J Immunol</u> **166**(12): 7096-7103.

Kulkarni, O. P., I. Hartter, S. R. Mulay, J. Hagemann, M. N. Darisipudi, S. Kumar Vr, S. Romoli, D. Thomasova, M. Ryu, S. Kobold and H. J. Anders (2014). "Toll-like receptor 4-induced IL-22 accelerates kidney regeneration." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **25**(5): 978-989.

Kuo, H. C., H. R. Yu, S. H. Juo, K. D. Yang, Y. S. Wang, C. D. Liang, W. C. Chen, W. P. Chang, C. F. Huang, C. P. Lee, L. Y. Lin, Y. C. Liu, Y. C. Guo, C. C. Chiu and W. C. Chang (2011). "CASP3 gene single-nucleotide polymorphism (rs72689236) and Kawasaki disease in Taiwanese children." J Hum Genet **56**(2): 161-165.

Kurabayashi, A., M. Furihata, M. Matsumoto, Y. Ohtsuki, S. Sasaguri and S. Ogoshi (2001). "Expression of Bax and apoptosis-related proteins in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma including dysplasia." <u>Mod Pathol</u> **14**(8): 741-747.

Larkin, J., X. Y. Goh, M. Vetter, L. Pickering and C. Swanton (2012). "Epigenetic regulation in RCC: opportunities for therapeutic intervention?" <u>Nat Rev Urol</u> **9**(3): 147-155.

Latif, F., K. Tory, J. Gnarra, M. Yao, F. M. Duh, M. L. Orcutt, T. Stackhouse, I. Kuzmin, W. Modi, L. Geil and et al. (1993). "Identification of the von Hippel-Lindau disease tumor suppressor gene." Science **260**(5112): 1317-1320.

Lee, J. E., S. Mannisto, D. Spiegelman, D. J. Hunter, L. Bernstein, P. A. van den Brandt,
J. E. Buring, E. Cho, D. R. English, A. Flood, J. L. Freudenheim, G. G. Giles, E. Giovannucci, N. Hakansson, P. L. Horn-Ross, E. J. Jacobs, M. F. Leitzmann, J. R. Marshall, M. L. McCullough, A. B. Miller, T. E. Rohan, J. A. Ross, A. Schatzkin, L. J. Schouten, J. Virtamo, A. Wolk, S. M. Zhang and S. A. Smith-Warner (2009). "Intakes of fruit, vegetables, and carotenoids and renal cell cancer risk: a pooled analysis of 13 prospective studies." Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev **18**(6): 1730-1739.

Lee, J. S., M. Cella, K. G. McDonald, C. Garlanda, G. D. Kennedy, M. Nukaya, A. Mantovani, R. Kopan, C. A. Bradfield, R. D. Newberry and M. Colonna (2012). "AHR drives the development of gut ILC22 cells and postnatal lymphoid tissues via pathways dependent on and independent of Notch." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **13**(2): 144-151.

Leibovitch, I., R. Lev, Y. Mor, J. Golomb, Z. A. Dotan and J. Ramon (2001). "Extensive necrosis in renal cell carcinoma specimens: potential clinical and prognostic implications." <u>Isr Med Assoc J</u> **3**(8): 563-565.

Lejeune, D., L. Dumoutier, S. Constantinescu, W. Kruijer, J. J. Schuringa and J. C. Renauld (2002). "Interleukin-22 (IL-22) activates the JAK/STAT, ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways in a rat hepatoma cell line. Pathways that are shared with and distinct from IL-10." J Biol Chem **277**(37): 33676-33682.

Levi, F., J. Ferlay, C. Galeone, F. Lucchini, E. Negri, P. Boyle and C. La Vecchia (2008). "The changing pattern of kidney cancer incidence and mortality in Europe." <u>BJU Int</u> **101**(8): 949-958.

Li, B., H. Liu, F. Gong, P. Sun, Y. Yan and B. Jia (2014). "Molecular epidemiologic correlation analysis between caspase3 gene polymorphism and gastric cancer susceptibility." Cell Biochem Biophys **70**(3): 1647-1653.

Li, J., K. N. Tomkinson, X. Y. Tan, P. Wu, G. Yan, V. Spaulding, B. Deng, B. Annis-Freeman, K. Heveron, R. Zollner, G. De Zutter, J. F. Wright, T. K. Crawford, W. Liu, K. A. Jacobs, N. M. Wolfman, V. Ling, D. D. Pittman, G. M. Veldman and L. A. Fouser (2004). "Temporal associations between interleukin 22 and the extracellular domains of IL-22R and IL-10R2." <u>Int Immunopharmacol</u> **4**(5): 693-708.

Liang, S. C., C. Nickerson-Nutter, D. D. Pittman, Y. Carrier, D. G. Goodwin, K. M. Shields, A. J. Lambert, S. H. Schelling, Q. G. Medley, H. L. Ma, M. Collins, K. Dunussi-Joannopoulos and L. A. Fouser (2010). "IL-22 induces an acute-phase response." J Immunol **185**(9): 5531-5538.

Lim, C. and R. Savan (2014). "The role of the IL-22/IL-22R1 axis in cancer." Cytokine

<u>Growth Factor Rev</u> 25(3): 257-271.

Lipworth, L., R. E. Tarone and J. K. McLaughlin (2006). "The epidemiology of renal cell carcinoma." J Urol **176**(6 Pt 1): 2353-2358.

Liu, T., L. Peng, P. Yu, Y. Zhao, Y. Shi, X. Mao, W. Chen, P. Cheng, T. Wang, N. Chen, J. Zhang, X. Liu, N. Li, G. Guo, W. Tong, Y. Zhuang and Q. Zou (2012). "Increased circulating Th22 and Th17 cells are associated with tumor progression and patient survival in human gastric cancer." J Clin Immunol **32**(6): 1332-1339.

Ljungberg, B., S. C. Campbell, H. Y. Choi, D. Jacqmin, J. E. Lee, S. Weikert and L. A. Kiemeney (2011). "The epidemiology of renal cell carcinoma." <u>Eur Urol</u> **60**(4): 615-621.

Luxan, G., G. D'Amato, D. MacGrogan and J. L. de la Pompa (2016). "Endocardial Notch Signaling in Cardiac Development and Disease." <u>Circ Res</u> **118**(1): e1-e18.

Maisonneuve, P., L. Agodoa, R. Gellert, J. H. Stewart, G. Buccianti, A. B. Lowenfels, R. A. Wolfe, E. Jones, A. P. Disney, D. Briggs, M. McCredie and P. Boyle (1999). "Cancer in patients on dialysis for end-stage renal disease: an international collaborative study." Lancet **354**(9173): 93-99.

Mancilla-Jimenez, R., R. J. Stanley and R. A. Blath (1976). "Papillary renal cell carcinoma: a clinical, radiologic, and pathologic study of 34 cases." <u>Cancer</u> **38**(6): 2469-2480.

Martin, J. C., G. Beriou, M. Heslan, C. Chauvin, L. Utriainen, A. Aumeunier, C. L. Scott, A. Mowat, V. Cerovic, S. A. Houston, M. Leboeuf, F. X. Hubert, C. Hemont, M. Merad, S. Milling and R. Josien (2014). "Interleukin-22 binding protein (IL-22BP) is constitutively expressed by a subset of conventional dendritic cells and is strongly induced by retinoic acid." <u>Mucosal Immunol</u> **7**(1): 101-113.

Mieliauskaite, D., I. Dumalakiene, R. Rugiene and Z. Mackiewicz (2012). "Expression of IL-17, IL-23 and their receptors in minor salivary glands of patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome." Clin Dev Immunol **2012**: 187258.

Mitra, A., S. K. Raychaudhuri and S. P. Raychaudhuri (2012). "IL-22 induced cell proliferation is regulated by PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling cascade." <u>Cytokine</u> **60**(1): 38-42.

Miyake, H., T. Terakawa, J. Furukawa, M. Muramaki and M. Fujisawa (2012). "Prognostic significance of tumor extension into venous system in patients undergoing surgical treatment for renal cell carcinoma with venous tumor thrombus." <u>Eur J Surg Oncol</u> **38**(7): 630-636.

Mortha, A., A. Chudnovskiy, D. Hashimoto, M. Bogunovic, S. P. Spencer, Y. Belkaid and M. Merad (2014). "Microbiota-dependent crosstalk between macrophages and ILC3 promotes intestinal homeostasis." <u>Science</u> **343**(6178): 1249288.

Nakagome, K., M. Imamura, K. Kawahata, H. Harada, K. Okunishi, T. Matsumoto, O. Sasaki, R. Tanaka, M. R. Kano, H. Chang, H. Hanawa, J. Miyazaki, K. Yamamoto and M. Dohi (2011). "High expression of IL-22 suppresses antigen-induced immune responses and eosinophilic airway inflammation via an IL-10-associated mechanism." J Immunol **187**(10): 5077-5089.

Onouchi, Y., Y. Suzuki, H. Suzuki, M. Terai, K. Yasukawa, H. Hamada, T. Suenaga, T. Honda, A. Honda, H. Kobayashi, T. Takeuchi, N. Yoshikawa, J. Sato, S. Shibuta, M. Miyawaki, K. Oishi, H. Yamaga, N. Aoyagi, S. Iwahashi, R. Miyashita, Y. Murata, R. Ebata, K. Higashi, K. Ozaki, K. Sasago, T. Tanaka and A. Hata (2013). "ITPKC and CASP3 polymorphisms and risks for IVIG unresponsiveness and coronary artery lesion formation in Kawasaki disease." Pharmacogenomics J **13**(1): 52-59.

Ouyang, W., S. Rutz, N. K. Crellin, P. A. Valdez and S. G. Hymowitz (2011). "Regulation and functions of the IL-10 family of cytokines in inflammation and disease." <u>Annu</u> Rev Immunol **29**: 71-109.

Pan, H. F., X. P. Li, S. G. Zheng and D. Q. Ye (2013). "Emerging role of interleukin-22 in autoimmune diseases." <u>Cytokine Growth Factor Rev</u> **24**(1): 51-57.

Pan, H. F., D. Q. Ye and X. P. Li (2008). "Type 17 T-helper cells might be a promising therapeutic target for systemic lupus erythematosus." <u>Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol</u> **4**(7): 352-353.

Pan, H. F., X. F. Zhao, H. Yuan, W. H. Zhang, X. P. Li, G. H. Wang, G. C. Wu, X. W. Tang, W. X. Li, L. H. Li, J. B. Feng, C. S. Hu and D. Q. Ye (2009). "Decreased serum IL-22 levels in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus." <u>Clin Chim Acta</u> **401**(1-2): 179-180.

Patard, J. J., E. Leray, N. Rioux-Leclercq, L. Cindolo, V. Ficarra, A. Zisman, A. De La Taille, J. Tostain, W. Artibani, C. C. Abbou, B. Lobel, F. Guille, D. K. Chopin, P. F. Mulders, C. G. Wood, D. A. Swanson, R. A. Figlin, A. S. Belldegrun and A. J. Pantuck (2005). "Prognostic value of histologic subtypes in renal cell carcinoma: a multicenter experience." J Clin Oncol **23**(12): 2763-2771.

Pickert, G., C. Neufert, M. Leppkes, Y. Zheng, N. Wittkopf, M. Warntjen, H. A. Lehr, S.

Hirth, B. Weigmann, S. Wirtz, W. Ouyang, M. F. Neurath and C. Becker (2009). "STAT3 links IL-22 signaling in intestinal epithelial cells to mucosal wound healing." J Exp Med **206**(7): 1465-1472.

Pollack, A., M. DeSilvio, L. Y. Khor, R. Li, T. I. Al-Saleem, M. E. Hammond, V. Venkatesan, C. A. Lawton, M. Roach, 3rd, W. U. Shipley, G. E. Hanks and H. M. Sandler (2004). "Ki-67 staining is a strong predictor of distant metastasis and mortality for men with prostate cancer treated with radiotherapy plus androgen deprivation: Radiation Therapy Oncology Group Trial 92-02." J Clin Oncol **22**(11): 2133-2140.

Pollinger, B. (2012). "IL-17 producing T cells in mouse models of multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis." J Mol Med (Berl) **90**(6): 613-624.

Purdue, M. P., M. Johansson, D. Zelenika, J. R. Toro, G. Scelo, L. E. Moore, E. Prokhortchouk, X. Wu, L. A. Kiemeney, V. Gaborieau, K. B. Jacobs, W. H. Chow, D. Zaridze, V. Matveev, J. Lubinski, J. Trubicka, N. Szeszenia-Dabrowska, J. Lissowska, P. Rudnai, E. Fabianova, A. Bucur, V. Bencko, L. Foretova, V. Janout, P. Boffetta, J. S. Colt, F. G. Davis, K. L. Schwartz, R. E. Banks, P. J. Selby, P. Harnden, C. D. Berg, A. W. Hsing, R. L. Grubb, 3rd, H. Boeing, P. Vineis, F. Clavel-Chapelon, D. Palli, R. Tumino, V. Krogh, S. Panico, E. J. Duell, J. R. Quiros, M. J. Sanchez, C. Navarro, E. Ardanaz, M. Dorronsoro, K. T. Khaw, N. E. Allen, H. B. Bueno-de-Mesquita, P. H. Peeters, D. Trichopoulos, J. Linseisen, B. Ljungberg, K. Overvad, A. Tjonneland, I. Romieu, E. Riboli, A. Mukeria, O. Shangina, V. L. Stevens, M. J. Thun, W. R. Diver, S. M. Gapstur, P. D. Pharoah, D. F. Easton, D. Albanes, S. J. Weinstein, J. Virtamo, L. Vatten, K. Hveem, I. Njolstad, G. S. Tell, C. Stoltenberg, R. Kumar, K. Koppova, O. Cussenot, S. Benhamou, E. Oosterwijk, S. H. Vermeulen, K. K. Aben, S. L. van der Marel, Y. Ye, C. G. Wood, X. Pu, A. M. Mazur, E. S. Boulygina, N. N. Chekanov, M. Foglio, D. Lechner, I. Gut, S. Heath, H. Blanche, A. Hutchinson, G. Thomas, Z. Wang, M. Yeager, J. F. Fraumeni, Jr., K. G. Skryabin, J. D. McKay, N. Rothman, S. J. Chanock, M. Lathrop and P. Brennan (2011). "Genome-wide association study of renal cell carcinoma identifies two susceptibility loci on 2p21 and 11q13.3." Nat Genet 43(1): 60-65.

Rabjerg, M., H. Bjerregaard, U. Halekoh, B. L. Jensen, S. Walter and N. Marcussen (2016). "Molecular characterization of clear cell renal cell carcinoma identifies CSNK2A1, SPP1 and DEFB1 as promising novel prognostic markers." <u>APMIS</u> **124**(5): 372-383.

Radaeva, S., R. Sun, H. N. Pan, F. Hong and B. Gao (2004). "Interleukin 22 (IL-22) plays a protective role in T cell-mediated murine hepatitis: IL-22 is a survival factor for hepatocytes via STAT3 activation." <u>Hepatology</u> **39**(5): 1332-1342.

Radtke, F., N. Fasnacht and H. R. Macdonald (2010). "Notch signaling in the immune system." <u>Immunity</u> **32**(1): 14-27.

Radtke, F., H. R. MacDonald and F. Tacchini-Cottier (2013). "Regulation of innate and adaptive immunity by Notch." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **13**(6): 427-437.

Reed, J. C. (1999). "Dysregulation of apoptosis in cancer." <u>J Clin Oncol</u> **17**(9): 2941-2953.

Rini, B. I., S. C. Campbell and B. Escudier (2009). "Renal cell carcinoma." <u>Lancet</u> **373**(9669): 1119-1132.

Rioux-Leclercq, N., B. Turlin, J. Bansard, J. Patard, A. Manunta, J. P. Moulinoux, F. Guille, M. P. Ramee and B. Lobel (2000). "Value of immunohistochemical Ki-67 and p53 determinations as predictive factors of outcome in renal cell carcinoma." <u>Urology</u> **55**(4): 501-505.

Rohrmann, S., J. Linseisen, K. Overvad, A. M. Lund Wurtz, N. Roswall, A. Tjonneland, M. C. Boutron-Ruault, A. Racine, N. Bastide, D. Palli, C. Agnoli, S. Panico, R. Tumino, C. Sacerdote, S. Weikert, A. Steffen, T. Kuhn, K. Li, K. T. Khaw, N. J. Wareham, K. E. Bradbury, E. Peppa, A. Trichopoulou, D. Trichopoulos, H. B. Bueno-de-Mesquita, P. H. Peeters, A. Hjartaker, G. Skeie, E. Weiderpass, P. Jakszyn, M. Dorronsoro, A. Barricarte, C. Santiuste de Pablos, E. Molina-Montes, R. A. de la Torre, U. Ericson, E. Sonestedt, M. Johansson, B. Ljungberg, H. Freisling, I. Romieu, A. J. Cross, A. C. Vergnaud, E. Riboli and H. Boeing (2015). "Meat and fish consumption and the risk of renal cell carcinoma in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition." Int J Cancer **136**(5): E423-431.

Rutz, S., C. Eidenschenk and W. Ouyang (2013). "IL-22, not simply a Th17 cytokine." Immunol Rev **252**(1): 116-132.

Sabat, R. (2010). "IL-10 family of cytokines." <u>Cytokine Growth Factor Rev</u> **21**(5): 315-324.

Sabat, R., W. Ouyang and K. Wolk (2014). "Therapeutic opportunities of the IL-22-IL-22R1 system." <u>Nat Rev Drug Discov</u> **13**(1): 21-38.

Selli, C., W. M. Hinshaw, B. H. Woodard and D. F. Paulson (1983). "Stratification of risk factors in renal cell carcinoma." <u>Cancer</u> **52**(5): 899-903.

Semerano, L., E. Assier and M. C. Boissier (2012). "Anti-cytokine vaccination: a new biotherapy of autoimmunity?" <u>Autoimmun Rev</u> **11**(11): 785-786.

Sengupta, S., C. M. Lohse, B. C. Leibovich, I. Frank, R. H. Thompson, W. S. Webster, H. Zincke, M. L. Blute, J. C. Cheville and E. D. Kwon (2005). "Histologic coagulative tumor necrosis as a prognostic indicator of renal cell carcinoma aggressiveness." Cancer **104**(3): 511-520.

Shariat, S. F. and E. Xylinas (2012). "Biomarkers in personalised treatment of renal-cell carcinoma." Lancet Oncol **13**(8): 751-752.

Shin, S. J., Y. K. Jeon, Y. M. Cho, J. L. Lee, D. H. Chung, J. Y. Park and H. Go (2015). "The Association Between PD-L1 Expression and the Clinical Outcomes to Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-Targeted Therapy in Patients With Metastatic Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma." <u>Oncologist</u> **20**(11): 1253-1260.

Shuch, B., A. Amin, A. J. Armstrong, J. N. Eble, V. Ficarra, A. Lopez-Beltran, G. Martignoni, B. I. Rini and A. Kutikov (2015). "Understanding pathologic variants of renal cell carcinoma: distilling therapeutic opportunities from biologic complexity." Eur Urol **67**(1): 85-97.

Simonian, P. L., F. Wehrmann, C. L. Roark, W. K. Born, R. L. O'Brien and A. P. Fontenot (2010). "gammadelta T cells protect against lung fibrosis via IL-22." J Exp Med **207**(10): 2239-2253.

Singer, E. A., G. N. Gupta, D. Marchalik and R. Srinivasan (2013). "Evolving therapeutic targets in renal cell carcinoma." <u>Curr Opin Oncol</u> **25**(3): 273-280.

Sonnenberg, G. F., L. A. Fouser and D. Artis (2011). "Border patrol: regulation of immunity, inflammation and tissue homeostasis at barrier surfaces by IL-22." <u>Nat</u> <u>Immunol</u> **12**(5): 383-390.

Soung, Y. H., J. W. Lee, S. Y. Kim, W. S. Park, S. W. Nam, J. Y. Lee, N. J. Yoo and S. H. Lee (2004). "Somatic mutations of CASP3 gene in human cancers." <u>Hum Genet</u> **115**(2): 112-115.

Srigley, J. R. and B. Delahunt (2009). "Uncommon and recently described renal carcinomas." <u>Mod Pathol</u> **22 Suppl 2**: S2-S23.

Su, D., E. A. Singer and R. Srinivasan (2015). "Molecular pathways in renal cell carcinoma: recent advances in genetics and molecular biology." <u>Curr Opin Oncol</u> **27**(3): 217-223.

Suarez-Alvarez, B., H. Liapis and H. J. Anders (2016). "Links between coagulation,

inflammation, regeneration, and fibrosis in kidney pathology." <u>Lab Invest</u> **96**(4): 378-390.

Suh, J. S., S. H. Cho, J. H. Chung, A. Moon, Y. K. Park and B. S. Cho (2013). "A polymorphism of interleukin-22 receptor alpha-1 is associated with the development of childhood IgA nephropathy." J Interferon Cytokine Res **33**(10): 571-577.

Sung, C. O., S. C. Kim, S. Karnan, K. Karube, H. J. Shin, D. H. Nam, Y. L. Suh, S. H. Kim, J. Y. Kim, S. J. Kim, W. S. Kim, M. Seto and Y. H. Ko (2011). "Genomic profiling combined with gene expression profiling in primary central nervous system lymphoma." <u>Blood</u> **117**(4): 1291-1300.

Swartz, M. A., J. Karth, D. T. Schneider, R. Rodriguez, J. B. Beckwith and E. J. Perlman (2002). "Renal medullary carcinoma: clinical, pathologic, immunohistochemical, and genetic analysis with pathogenetic implications." <u>Urology</u> **60**(6): 1083-1089.

Tachiiri, A., R. Imamura, Y. Wang, M. Fukui, M. Umemura and T. Suda (2003). "Genomic structure and inducible expression of the IL-22 receptor alpha chain in mice." Genes Immun **4**(2): 153-159.

Takaoka, A., M. Adachi, H. Okuda, S. Sato, A. Yawata, Y. Hinoda, S. Takayama, J. C. Reed and K. Imai (1997). "Anti-cell death activity promotes pulmonary metastasis of melanoma cells." Oncogene **14**(24): 2971-2977.

Terakawa, T., H. Miyake, A. Takenaka, I. Hara and M. Fujisawa (2007). "Clinical outcome of surgical management for patients with renal cell carcinoma involving the inferior vena cava." Int J Urol **14**(9): 781-784.

Thompson, R. H., M. D. Gillett, J. C. Cheville, C. M. Lohse, H. Dong, W. S. Webster, K. G. Krejci, J. R. Lobo, S. Sengupta, L. Chen, H. Zincke, M. L. Blute, S. E. Strome, B. C. Leibovich and E. D. Kwon (2004). "Costimulatory B7-H1 in renal cell carcinoma patients: Indicator of tumor aggressiveness and potential therapeutic target." <u>Proc</u> Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**(49): 17174-17179.

Thompson, R. H., S. M. Kuntz, B. C. Leibovich, H. Dong, C. M. Lohse, W. S. Webster, S. Sengupta, I. Frank, A. S. Parker, H. Zincke, M. L. Blute, T. J. Sebo, J. C. Cheville and E. D. Kwon (2006). "Tumor B7-H1 is associated with poor prognosis in renal cell carcinoma patients with long-term follow-up." <u>Cancer Res</u> **66**(7): 3381-3385.

Tollefson, M. K., R. H. Thompson, Y. Sheinin, C. M. Lohse, J. C. Cheville, B. C. Leibovich and E. D. Kwon (2007). "Ki-67 and coagulative tumor necrosis are independent predictors of poor outcome for patients with clear cell renal cell

carcinoma and not surrogates for each other." Cancer 110(4): 783-790.

Trifari, S., C. D. Kaplan, E. H. Tran, N. K. Crellin and H. Spits (2009). "Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **10**(8): 864-871.

Tsai, Y. H., K. L. VanDussen, E. T. Sawey, A. W. Wade, C. Kasper, S. Rakshit, R. G. Bhatt, A. Stoeck, I. Maillard, H. C. Crawford, L. C. Samuelson and P. J. Dempsey (2014). "ADAM10 regulates Notch function in intestinal stem cells of mice." Gastroenterology **147**(4): 822-834 e813.

Tsui, K. H., O. Shvarts, R. B. Smith, R. A. Figlin, J. B. deKernion and A. Belldegrun (2000). "Prognostic indicators for renal cell carcinoma: a multivariate analysis of 643 patients using the revised 1997 TNM staging criteria." <u>J Urol</u> **163**(4): 1090-1095; quiz 1295.

van den Berg, W. B. and P. Miossec (2009). "IL-17 as a future therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis." <u>Nat Rev Rheumatol</u> **5**(10): 549-553.

Varela, I., P. Tarpey, K. Raine, D. Huang, C. K. Ong, P. Stephens, H. Davies, D. Jones, M.
L. Lin, J. Teague, G. Bignell, A. Butler, J. Cho, G. L. Dalgliesh, D. Galappaththige, C.
Greenman, C. Hardy, M. Jia, C. Latimer, K. W. Lau, J. Marshall, S. McLaren, A.
Menzies, L. Mudie, L. Stebbings, D. A. Largaespada, L. F. Wessels, S. Richard, R. J.
Kahnoski, J. Anema, D. A. Tuveson, P. A. Perez-Mancera, V. Mustonen, A. Fischer, D. J.
Adams, A. Rust, W. Chan-on, C. Subimerb, K. Dykema, K. Furge, P. J. Campbell, B. T.
Teh, M. R. Stratton and P. A. Futreal (2011). "Exome sequencing identifies frequent mutation of the SWI/SNF complex gene PBRM1 in renal carcinoma." <u>Nature</u> 469(7331): 539-542.

Visapaa, H., M. Bui, Y. Huang, D. Seligson, H. Tsai, A. Pantuck, R. Figlin, J. Y. Rao, A. Belldegrun, S. Horvath and A. Palotie (2003). "Correlation of Ki-67 and gelsolin expression to clinical outcome in renal clear cell carcinoma." <u>Urology</u> **61**(4): 845-850. Volpe, E., M. Touzot, N. Servant, M. A. Marloie-Provost, P. Hupe, E. Barillot and V. Soumelis (2009). "Multiparametric analysis of cytokine-driven human Th17 differentiation reveals a differential regulation of IL-17 and IL-22 production." <u>Blood</u> **114**(17): 3610-3614.

Wagner, B., J. J. Patard, A. Mejean, K. Bensalah, G. Verhoest, R. Zigeuner, V. Ficarra, J. Tostain, P. Mulders, D. Chautard, J. L. Descotes, A. de la Taille, L. Salomon, T. Prayer-Galetti, L. Cindolo, A. Valeri, N. Meyer, D. Jacqmin and H. Lang (2009).

"Prognostic value of renal vein and inferior vena cava involvement in renal cell carcinoma." <u>Eur Urol</u> **55**(2): 452-459.

Waidmann, O., B. Kronenberger, P. Scheiermann, V. Koberle, H. Muhl and A. Piiper (2014). "Interleukin-22 serum levels are a negative prognostic indicator in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma." <u>Hepatology</u> **59**(3): 1207.

Wang, X. S., K. J. Luo, A. E. Bella, S. S. Bu, J. Wen, S. S. Zhang and Y. Hu (2014). "Caspase-3 expression in metastatic lymph nodes of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma is prognostic of survival." World J Gastroenterol **20**(15): 4414-4420.

Weber, G. F., S. Schlautkotter, S. Kaiser-Moore, F. Altmayr, B. Holzmann and H. Weighardt (2007). "Inhibition of interleukin-22 attenuates bacterial load and organ failure during acute polymicrobial sepsis." <u>Infect Immun</u> **75**(4): 1690-1697.

Wei, C. C., T. W. Ho, W. G. Liang, G. Y. Chen and M. S. Chang (2003). "Cloning and characterization of mouse IL-22 binding protein." <u>Genes Immun</u> **4**(3): 204-211.

Weidenbusch, M., S. Rodler and H. J. Anders (2015). "Interleukin-22 in kidney injury and regeneration." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **308**(10): F1041-1046.

Weiss, B., K. Wolk, B. H. Grunberg, H. D. Volk, W. Sterry, K. Asadullah and R. Sabat (2004). "Cloning of murine IL-22 receptor alpha 2 and comparison with its human counterpart." Genes Immun **5**(5): 330-336.

Wen, Z., Q. Liao, J. Zhao, Y. Hu, L. You, Z. Lu, C. Jia, Y. Wei and Y. Zhao (2014). "High expression of interleukin-22 and its receptor predicts poor prognosis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma." <u>Ann Surg Oncol</u> **21**(1): 125-132.

Witte, E., K. Witte, K. Warszawska, R. Sabat and K. Wolk (2010). "Interleukin-22: a cytokine produced by T, NK and NKT cell subsets, with importance in the innate immune defense and tissue protection." <u>Cytokine Growth Factor Rev</u> **21**(5): 365-379.

Wolk, K., S. Kunz, K. Asadullah and R. Sabat (2002). "Cutting edge: immune cells as sources and targets of the IL-10 family members?" <u>J Immunol</u> **168**(11): 5397-5402.

Wolk, K., S. Kunz, E. Witte, M. Friedrich, K. Asadullah and R. Sabat (2004). "IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues." <u>Immunity</u> **21**(2): 241-254.

Wolk, K. and R. Sabat (2006). "Interleukin-22: a novel T- and NK-cell derived cytokine that regulates the biology of tissue cells." <u>Cytokine Growth Factor Rev</u> **17**(5): 367-380.

Wolk, K., E. Witte, U. Hoffmann, W. D. Doecke, S. Endesfelder, K. Asadullah, W. Sterry, H. D. Volk, B. M. Wittig and R. Sabat (2007). "IL-22 induces

lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in hepatocytes: a potential systemic role of IL-22 in Crohn's disease." J Immunol **178**(9): 5973-5981.

Wolk, K., E. Witte, E. Wallace, W. D. Docke, S. Kunz, K. Asadullah, H. D. Volk, W. Sterry and R. Sabat (2006). "IL-22 regulates the expression of genes responsible for antimicrobial defense, cellular differentiation, and mobility in keratinocytes: a potential role in psoriasis." Eur J Immunol **36**(5): 1309-1323.

Wolk, K., K. Witte, E. Witte, S. Proesch, G. Schulze-Tanzil, K. Nasilowska, J. Thilo, K. Asadullah, W. Sterry, H. D. Volk and R. Sabat (2008). "Maturing dendritic cells are an important source of IL-29 and IL-20 that may cooperatively increase the innate immunity of keratinocytes." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u> **83**(5): 1181-1193.

Wong, N., D. Ojo, J. Yan and D. Tang (2015). "PKM2 contributes to cancer metabolism." <u>Cancer Lett</u> **356**(2 Pt A): 184-191.

Xie, M. H., S. Aggarwal, W. H. Ho, J. Foster, Z. Zhang, J. Stinson, W. I. Wood, A. D. Goddard and A. L. Gurney (2000). "Interleukin (IL)-22, a novel human cytokine that signals through the interferon receptor-related proteins CRF2-4 and IL-22R." J Biol Chem **275**(40): 31335-31339.

Xin, N., M. P. Namaka, C. Dou and Y. Zhang (2015). "Exploring the role of interleukin-22 in neurological and autoimmune disorders." <u>Int Immunopharmacol</u> **28**(2): 1076-1083.

Xu, K., N. Moghal and S. E. Egan (2012). "Notch signaling in lung development and disease." Adv Exp Med Biol **727**: 89-98.

Xu, L., Y. Zhu, J. Xu, K. Wu, J. Li, W. Xu, H. Liu, S. Wang, H. Yin, L. Chen, G. Wang and Z. Lin (2012). "Notch1 activation promotes renal cell carcinoma growth via PI3K/Akt signaling." <u>Cancer Sci</u> **103**(7): 1253-1258.

Xu, W., S. R. Presnell, J. Parrish-Novak, W. Kindsvogel, S. Jaspers, Z. Chen, S. R. Dillon,
Z. Gao, T. Gilbert, K. Madden, S. Schlutsmeyer, L. Yao, T. E. Whitmore, Y.
Chandrasekher, F. J. Grant, M. Maurer, L. Jelinek, H. Storey, T. Brender, A. Hammond,
S. Topouzis, C. H. Clegg and D. C. Foster (2001). "A soluble class II cytokine receptor,
IL-22RA2, is a naturally occurring IL-22 antagonist." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 98(17):
9511-9516.

Yan, F., Q. He, X. Hu, W. Li, K. Wei, L. Li, Y. Zhong, X. Ding, S. Xiang and J. Zhang (2013). "Direct regulation of caspase3 by the transcription factor AP2alpha is involved in aspirininduced apoptosis in MDAMB453 breast cancer cells." <u>Mol Med</u>

<u>Rep</u> **7**(3): 909-914.

Yang, X., Y. Gao, H. Wang, X. Zhao, X. Gong, Q. Wang and X. Zhang (2014). "Increased urinary interleukin 22 binding protein levels correlate with lupus nephritis activity." J <u>Rheumatol</u> **41**(9): 1793-1800.

Zargar-Shoshtari, K., P. Sharma, P. Espiritu, T. Kurian, J. M. Pow-Sang, D. Mangar, W. J. Sexton and P. E. Spiess (2015). "Caval tumor thrombus volume influences outcomes in renal cell carcinoma with venous extension." <u>Urol Oncol</u> **33**(3): 112 e123-119.

Zenewicz, L. A. and R. A. Flavell (2011). "Recent advances in IL-22 biology." Int Immunol **23**(3): 159-163.

Zhang, F., D. Shang, Y. Zhang and Y. Tian (2011). "Interleukin-22 suppresses the growth of A498 renal cell carcinoma cells via regulation of STAT1 pathway." <u>PLoS</u> <u>One</u> **6**(5): e20382.

Zhang, W., Y. Chen, H. Wei, C. Zheng, R. Sun, J. Zhang and Z. Tian (2008). "Antiapoptotic activity of autocrine interleukin-22 and therapeutic effects of interleukin-22-small interfering RNA on human lung cancer xenografts." <u>Clin Cancer</u> <u>Res</u> **14**(20): 6432-6439.

Zheng, M., W. Horne, J. P. McAleer, D. Pociask, T. Eddens, M. Good, B. Gao and J. K. Kolls (2016). "Therapeutic Role of Interleukin 22 in Experimental Intra-abdominal Klebsiella pneumoniae Infection in Mice." <u>Infect Immun</u> **84**(3): 782-789.

Zheng, Y., D. M. Danilenko, P. Valdez, I. Kasman, J. Eastham-Anderson, J. Wu and W. Ouyang (2007). "Interleukin-22, a T(H)17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis." Nature **445**(7128): 648-651.

Zhu, W., M. Y. Cai, Z. T. Tong, S. S. Dong, S. J. Mai, Y. J. Liao, X. W. Bian, M. C. Lin, H. F. Kung, Y. X. Zeng, X. Y. Guan and D. Xie (2012). "Overexpression of EIF5A2 promotes colorectal carcinoma cell aggressiveness by upregulating MTA1 through C-myc to induce epithelial-mesenchymaltransition." Gut **61**(4): 562-575.

Zhuang, Y., L. S. Peng, Y. L. Zhao, Y. Shi, X. H. Mao, G. Guo, W. Chen, X. F. Liu, J. Y. Zhang, T. Liu, P. Luo, P. W. Yu and Q. M. Zou (2012). "Increased intratumoral IL-22-producing CD4(+) T cells and Th22 cells correlate with gastric cancer progression and predict poor patient survival." <u>Cancer Immunol Immunother</u> **61**(11): 1965-1975.

Znaor, A., J. Lortet-Tieulent, M. Laversanne, A. Jemal and F. Bray (2015).

"International variations and trends in renal cell carcinoma incidence and mortality." <u>Eur Urol</u> **67**(3): 519-530.

6. List of Abbreviations

a disintegrin and metalloprotease domain 17
aryl hydrocarbon receptor
American Joint Committee on Cancer
protein kinase B
aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator
body-mass index
basigin
clear cell renal cell carcinoma
confidence interval
computerised tomography
cytochrome P450 family 1 subfamily A member 1
cytochrome P450 family 24 subfamily A member 1
3,3'-diaminobenzidine
disease-free survival
Delta-Like
Distal-less
deoxyribonucleic acid
extracellular signal-regulated kinases
Food and Drug Administration
granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
Genomic Identification of Significant Targets in Cancer
hematoxylin and eosin
hydrogen peroxide
hairy and enhancer of split
Hairy/enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif protein
hypoxia-inducible factor
hazard ratio
the International Cancer Genome Consortium
Interferon

IL	Interleukin
IL-22BP	IL-22 binding protein
IL-22R	IL-22 receptor
ILCs	innate lymphoid cells
JAG	Jagged
JAK1	Janus kinase
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LBP	lipopolysaccharide binding protein
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAP3K8	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 8
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
miRNA	microRNA
ml	milliliter
MMP9	matrix metallopeptidase 9
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
mRNA	messenger RNA
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
NCI	National Cancer Institute
NHGRI	National Human Genome Research Institute
NiCl	Nickel chloride
NK	natural killer
OS	overall survival
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PD-1	programmed death 1
PD-L1	programmed death ligand 1
РІЗК	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PSEN1	presenilin 1
рТ	primary tumor stage
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
RBP-J	Recombination Signal Binding Protein For Immunoglobulin Kappa J
	Region
RCC	renal cell carcinoma
rIL-22	recombinant IL-22

RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
SCNAs	somatic copy-number alterations
SSIGN	stage, size, grade, and necrosis
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TACE	TNF- α ADAM metalloprotease converting enzyme
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
ТҮК2	Tyrosine Kinase 2
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VHL	von Hippel-Lindau
XRE	xenobiotic response elements
μΙ	microliter
μm	micrometre

7. List of figures

Figure 1	Pathways in renal cell carcinoma	7
Figure 2	Principles of IL-22 signaling.	14
Figure 3	Select genomic profiles.	26
Figure 4	Select genomic profiles.	27
Figure 5	Select patient or case set, enter gene symbol	28
Figure 6	Comprehensive results were shown after submitting.	28
Figure 7	IL-22 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates	
Figure 8	IL-22RA1 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates	
Figure 9	IL-22 immunohistochemical staining.	47
Figure 10	IL-22RA1 immunohistochemical staining	
Figure 11	IL-22BP immunohistochemical staining	49
Figure 12	Ki-67 immunohistochemical staining	50
Figure 13	Caspase-3 immunohistochemical staining	51
Figure 14	IL-22 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates	60
Figure 15	IL-22R1 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates	62
Figure 16	Ki-67 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates.	64
Figure 17	Casspase-3 Kaplan-Meier survival estimates.	66
Figure 18	IL-22-IL-22RA1 pathway in renal cell carcinoma	

8. List of tables

Table	1 2010 AJCC TNM classification (Primary tumors stage)	30
Table	2 Primary and second antibodies	33
Table	3 Patients' clinical data	43
Table	4 Patients' cohort.	46
Table	5Correlations between IL-22 expression and clinicopatholog	gic
ch	aracteristics	54
Table	6 Correlations between IL-22RA1 expression and clinicopatholo	gic
ch	aracteristics	57
Table	7 Multivariable Cox proportional hazards regression model	for
ov	verall survival	68
Table	8 Multivariable Cox proportional hazards regression model	for
di	sease-free survival	68

9. Acknowledgments

This thesis was accomplished in the Nephrologisches Zentrum, Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik IV, Innenstadt Klinikum der Universität München. I would like to thank all the members here for their kind support in various ways.

Particularly, I would like to express my genuine gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Dr. med. Hans-Joachim Anders and Prof. Dr. med. Christian Stief for giving me a chance to join this research group. I was deeply inspired by their enthusiastic attitude to science. Their innovative and rigorous thought as well as diligent attitude have aroused my desire to continue studying.

I would like to express my sincere thankfulness to Philipp Nuhn and Marc Weidenbusch for their excellent ideas, financial support and scientific knowledge throughout my project.

I would like to thank China Scholarship Council for supporting me the living cost so that I can study and live in Germany without any financial difficulty.

I would like to thank all the patients enrolled in this study for their understanding, their tumor tissues and follow-up time spending. I wish them have a healthy condition and enjoy their life.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my parents for their encouragement, without their support I might not have gone so far in the academic road. It is their expectation and inspiration that impel me to achieve my dream step by step.

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Song, Shangqing

Name, Vorname

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt,

dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Thema A histology based four protein array for postoperative outcome prediction in clear cell renal cell carcinoma

selbständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

Muenchen, 06.03.2017

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift Doktorandin/Doktorand